

Independent review of the agvet chemical regulatory framework

Submission from the Australian Veterinary Association Ltd. 28 August 2020

www.ava.com.au

Contents

Submission by the Australian Veterinary Association	\$
Executive summary3	;
Availability and use of veterinary medicines in the decades ahead	;
AGVET REVIEW INTRODUCTION	;
Chapter 1: IS THE NATIONAL REGISTRATION SCHEME WORKING AS NEEDED?	ŀ
Chapter 2. WHO SHOULD ULTIMATELY BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ASPECTS OF THE SYSTEM?	,
Chapter 3 WHAT CHEMICALS ARE CURRENTLY REGULATED?)
Chapter 4: ARE THERE GAPS IN AGVET CHEMICALS REGULATION OR MANAGEMENT?	;
Chapter 5: HOW CAN COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT BE IMPROVED?	1
Chapter 6: HOW CAN WE SIMPLIFY THE REGULATORY SYSTEM?)
Chapter 7: HOW CAN AUSTRALIA BUILD NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL CAPACITY?	;
Chapter 8: HOW WILL A NEW REGULATORY SYSTEM BE SUSTAINABLY FUNDED?	3
Chapter 9: APPENDIX A: INDEPENDENT REVIEW: AGVET CHEMICALS NATIONAL REGULATORY	
FRAMEWORK)
OTHER ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION)

Submission from the Australian Veterinary Association

Introduction

The Australian Veterinary Association (AVA) is the national organisation representing veterinarians in Australia. Our 9,000 members come from all fields within the veterinary profession. Clinical practitioners work with companion animals, horses, livestock and wildlife. Government veterinarians work with our animal health, public health and biosecurity systems while other members work in industry for pharmaceutical and other commercial enterprises. We have members who work in research and teaching in a range of scientific disciplines. Veterinary students are also members of the AVA.

Executive summary

Veterinary Medicines: Key points

- 1. Access to veterinary medicines for all (>1,000) species
- 2. Quality of products essential
- 3. Efficacy (and effectiveness) important for registered products
- 4. Effectiveness necessary for all products
- 5. Safety necessary for all products
- 6. It is an unreasonable expectation that registration will be possible for all products, actives or formulations which are likely to be required for the treatment and management of animal health and welfare.
- 7. Registration of all veterinary medicines for production animal species desirable, especially with respect to MRLs and WHPs. However, there will be circumstances where a registered product is not appropriate OR it is required to be used at a different dose rate, frequency or duration and support is required to enable veterinarians to establish an appropriate WHP
- 8. Registration of major products for other animal species desirable
- 9. The disease spectrum presented to veterinarians, especially those in non-production animal species is extensive, with many parallels to the requirements placed on their medical colleagues
- 10. For unregistered products systems for collecting real world data (RWD) and real world evidence (RWE) to support dose regimens, effectiveness, and safety desirable
- 11. Undergraduate training and continuing professional development of veterinarians provides a solid foundation for the appropriate and responsible use of veterinary medicines, whether the products are registered for animal use or not registered.
- 12. Veterinarians have responsibilities for animal health and welfare. A major component of veterinary responsibility in herd/flock health is to manage risks from the use of a range of veterinary medicines, both prescription and non-prescription. This includes when it may not be appropriate to administer a specific registered product (for example, due to physiological or environmental factors which are likely to impact efficacy/safety/residues if used

according to the registered label). A real-life example has been sheep with significant subacute liver damage due to phomopsin.

- 13. Within the One Health area, veterinarians work closely with other professionals to protect animal, human and environmental health.
- 14. Veterinarians are at the forefront of infectious disease emergence from wildlife and need to respond quickly and effectively, often requiring access to specific veterinary medicines, especially vaccines.
- 15. A regulatory system that facilitates and supports the availability of veterinary medicines and works closely with the veterinary profession is the most desirable outcome.
- 16. A regulatory system that aims to be world leading must support timely availability of innovation. Close collaboration with veterinarians through the control of use legislation will facilitate effective use.
- 17. The most refined and responsive system of veterinary medicine availability and individualisation requires ongoing monitoring of use with appropriate and timely feedback to allow targeted modifications.
- 18. A regulatory system would benefit from a visible connection between the regulatory system and the social license of producer industries. Veterinarians are increasingly involved at the coalface of many producer industries, have responsibilities for animal health and welfare and as such could play an influential role in connecting the regulatory system to current and future use of veterinary medicines.
- 19. Diagnostic tests can often underpin accurate diagnosis and the development of treatment plans. Such test should be accurate and reliable and validated to ensure they provide appropriate information. There is currently no requirement to validate diagnostic tests.

Availability and use of veterinary medicines in the decades ahead

The comments developed by the AVA in response to the Issues Paper of the AgVet Chemical Review were prepared in the context of an evolving veterinary profession.

Animals under the care of the veterinary profession

While there is a strong trend towards veterinary practice consolidation to capture the commercial and professional benefits of large scale, the veterinary profession itself is becoming increasingly focused on the needs of its clientele. For both production (food and fibre production) animal and companion animal practice there is a growing expectation for precision of diagnosis and treatment with an emphasis on preventive interventions. Similarly, there are expectations for a similar sophisticated and continuously refined approach to the health and welfare of wildlife, exotic animals, and zoo animals. While cattle (dairy and beef), sheep (wool and meat), pigs (meat) and poultry (meat and eggs) dominate food animal practice, there are many other less numerous production animal species including goats, alpacas, camels (milk and meat), game birds, bees and aquaculture species. Each species, irrespective of its numbers, has its own requirements for veterinary professional intervention and unique needs for veterinary medicines. Indeed, for some livestock industries, the activities of many practitioners (eg pig, poultry, sheep, feedlot) are directed almost exclusively towards flock/herd health and/or the management of veterinary medicine use, rather than traditional single animal clinical medicine. Veterinarians engaged in such practice have developed considerable expertise relevant to the management of risks associated with agvet chemical use.

According to a recent survey (Animal Medicines Australia and Newgate Research, 2019) veterinarians in small animal practice are available to attend to the needs of an estimated 5.1 million dogs, 3.8 million cats, 11.3 million fish, 5.6 million birds, 614,000 small mammals, 364,000 reptiles and 1.8 million 'other' pets. The relationship between owner and pet is extraordinarily important. The same survey reported that over 60% of dog and cat owners refer to their pet as a member of the family and most spend an average of 3-4 hours with their pets every day. Around half of all dog and cat owners allow their pets to share their beds, and more than 25% take their pets on holidays or road trips. Clearly there exists an extraordinary need for veterinarians to have access to high quality veterinary medicines to support the health and welfare needs of companion animals.

Access to high quality veterinary medicines

There is an important distinction between production animal medicine and the medicine of all other species.

Production animals, producing food (meat, milk, eggs, honey) and fibre (wool, cashmere, mohair, alpaca fleece and other fibres), are raised to meet specific food safety, health, welfare, trade and other standards. As a consequence of these production standards the nature of the medicines available to support the health and welfare of individual animals and groups of animals is very limited and not expected to change in the future. A significant consideration is that of tissue residues following treatment and the need to ensure that maximum residue limits (MRL) are not exceeded, often requiring the need for a withholding period (WHP). When an MRL is not available or when products are used in a way other than described on the label (extra-label use or ELU), veterinarians must consider the impact of tissue residues in edible produce on human health and trade and formulate recommendations, usually by use of a WHP, to ensure that produce is safe and meets the often stringent standards applied domestically and by trading partners.

For companion animal and other non-production animal species veterinarians are currently permitted to use veterinary medicines registered by the APVMA or veterinary medicines acquired from other sources, for example products registered by the TGA for use in humans. The need for an increasing formulary of veterinary medicines is driven by an increasing number of species presenting for veterinary attention and the significant role played by animals in the lives of their owners. There is an expanding number of health and welfare problems requiring treatment, often for extended periods, even the lifetime of the animal being treated. Infectious and non-infectious diseases are treated. Endocrine disorders such as hyperadrenocorticism, diabetes and hyperthyroidism; a diverse array of cancers; heart disease, skin disease; epilepsy and other CNS disorders; reproductive disorders; urinary tract disorders, musculoskeletal problems, notably osteoarthritis; ophthalmological and ontological disorders - all increasingly demand attention and a high standard of management. Infectious and parasitic diseases due t to a diverse range of biological agents which may not necessarily manifest consistently or as classical disease increasingly require veterinary investigation and treatment. The possibility of the emergence or of new manifestations of disease due to prokaryotic and eukaryotic pathogens, perhaps associated with environmental or husbandry changes, cannot be reasonably anticipated by a registration system and the veterinary profession provides an essential reserve to ensure that both productivity and animal welfare are adequately protected in such circumstances.

Ideally, all veterinary medicines are subject to the rigorous quality, safety and efficacy requirements of the APVMA. However, this is not the case and has not been the case in recent decades and perhaps is less likely to be the case in the future.

A survey was undertaken in 2010 to identify the veterinary medicines (Prescription Animal Remedies or Schedule 4 medicines) recommended during undergraduate training of veterinarians in Australia and New Zealand together with the veterinary medicines recommended in a number of authoritative veterinary pharmacology textbooks and formularies (Mills et al 2010). A total of 978 recommended active constituents was identified. At the time there were 223 active constituents in veterinary medicines approved by the APVMA. Only 23% of the recommended actives were available in registered products. This has not changed significantly in the 10 years since this survey was undertaken.

A total of 20 pharmaceutical active constituents were lost from the APVMA in last decade (2010-2020): amphotericin B; aspirin; cinchocaine; corticotropin (ACTH); difloxacin; etamiphylline; etiproston; etodolac; gramicidin; histamine; ketanserin; meclofenamic acid; medroxyprogesterone acetate; nonoxynol-9; penicillin G (benzylpenicillin); phenytoin; porcine somatotropin (PST); quinalbarbitone; ramifenazone; and tripelennamine. While a total of 19 pharmaceutical active constituents were gained in last decade (2010-2020): pergolide (approved 2010); robenacoxib [ONSIOR TABLETS / INJECTION FOR DOGS / CATS] (2010); thiamazole [FELIMAZOLE COATED TABLET (treatment of feline hyperthyroidism)] (2012); dexmedetomidine [DEXDOMITOR INJECTABLE SEDATIVE AND ANALGESIC FOR DOGS / CATS] (2012); carbimazole [VIDALTA TABLETS FOR CATS] (treatment of feline hyperthyroidism)] (2013); dirlotapide [SLENTROL (obesity in dogs)] (2013); imepitoin [PEXION TABLETS FOR DOGS (antiepileptic)] (2015); oclacitinib [APOQUEL TABLETS FOR DOGS (antipruritic)] (2015); pradofloxacin [VERAFLOX TABLETS FOR DOGS / CATS ANTIMICROBIAL] (2015); telmisartan [SEMINTRA ORAL SOLUTION FOR CATS (reduce proteinuria in cats with chronic kidney disease)] (2015); clodronic acid [OSPHOS SOLUTION FOR INJECTION FOR HORSES (reduce lameness)] (2016); peforelin [MAPRELIN (synchronisation of oestrus in sows)] (2016); terbinafine [OSURNIA EAR GEL FOR DOGS (antifungal)] (2016); triptorelin [OVUGEL (TRIPTORELIN ACETATE) GEL FOR INTRAVAGINAL USE IN SOWS (synchronisation of oestrus in sows)] (2016); amlodipine [Amodip

<u>Flavoured Tablets for Cats</u> (treatment of hypertension)] (2018); lokivetmab [<u>CYTOPOINT Solution for</u> <u>Injection for Dogs</u> (atopic dermatitis)] (2018); cimicoxib [<u>CIMALGEX CHEWABLE TABLETS FOR DOGS</u> (NSAID)] (2019); plasmid DNA (rE. coli DH5α pINGhT) [ONCEPT[®] CANINE MELANOMA VACCINE] (2019); and budesonide [DERMCARE BARAZONE BUDESONIDE LEAVE-ON CONDITIONER] (2020).

However, it is not only active constituents that are needed. The actives need to be formulated into a dosage form that is suitable for the animal to be treated. For example, formulations are needed that can be given by a suitably safe route of administration to an angry chihuahua or a feral cat where there are few potential reliable routes of administration. In view of the vast number of animal species, spanning mammals (placental (monogastric and ruminant), marsupial, monotremes), birds, reptiles, amphibians, fish, and invertebrates such as insects and arachnids, there can be a huge number of formulation types needed. In addition to species variation, variation of size within and between species is immense. For a small animal practitioner, the smallest patients may be in the grams (mouse, say 30-80g), to the largest great Dane (could be around 94kg). Even within dogs, the smallest would be around 800g. There is an increased client demand about preference for animal treatment, if the companion animal does not like taking medications this can negatively impact the human animal bond, causing stress and risk of injury for the owner

The regulatory process is expensive. Pharmaceutical companies are not philanthropic. Only unmet needs likely to generate a return on investment will gain the interest of the global and domestic pharmaceutical companies. While very common problems are often well catered for with veterinary medicines, many of the species requiring treatment are considered by regulators as minor (but not considered minor by their owners) and many of the indications for treatment are minor (from the perspective of number of animals at risk). The multitude of minor use, minor species – MUMS – needs is unlikely ever to be addressed by the current regulatory approach.

To enhance and facilitate the development and approval of new veterinary medicines the Center for Veterinary Medicine of the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has recently released five guidance documents. The guidelines present new approaches to demonstrate substantial evidence of effectiveness or a reasonable expectation of effectiveness and include the use of adaptive study designs (CVM 2020e), use of biomarkers (CVM 2002d), use of studies from foreign sources (CVM 2020b), the use of real-world data and real world evidence (CVM 2020c), as well as incentives and programs to support the approval of new veterinary medicines for MUMS (CVM 2020a).

However, it should not be overlooked that significant animal health diseases with high morbidity or mortality or zoonotic potential are also increasingly devoid of effective medicines. This is particularly evident in the areas of bacterial infection and parasitic infection. Resistance to available treatments (antimicrobial resistance and antiparasitic resistance) has rendered existing treatments inadequate. New treatments not affected by the current resistance mechanisms are not expected to become available principally because of the enormous cost of discovery and development and the uncertain regulatory environment. The emergence of resistance to all available treatments in liver fluke (*Fasciola hepatica*) of sheep and cattle and resistance in various nematode species in cattle, sheep and horses is becoming a dire problem with substantial impact on animal health and welfare.

Alternative sources of veterinary medicines

An important and widely used source of veterinary medicines is derived from extra-label (ELU) use (also known as (off label use) of registered veterinary medicines. ELU is defined as any use of a product that is not described in the label of the product and most commonly applies to use in the labelled species for a new indication or at a new dosage regimen (route of administration, dose rate,

frequency, duration) or use in an animal species not included on the label. ELU often required, for example, when there is a need to use a medicine in uncommon species such as alpacas and a potentially suitable medicine is registered for cattle and sheep. If regulatory overview is beneficial then minor use permits can be sought from the APVMA, but in practice are expensive, time consuming and complex to obtain, where the benefit is often much less than the effort.

A significant issue associated with ELU in food producing animals relates to the maximum residue limit (MRL) (whether one is available or not available) and the need to determine a withholding period (WHP) that allows residues associated with the ELU to deplete to concentrations less than the MRL. This is an issue that needs to be resolved by consultation and collaboration with the various regulatory agencies with an interest in tissue residues (for example, APVMA and FSANZ and importantly the NRS) by the veterinary profession and other key stakeholders (including the major meat and egg industries). Using real world evidence (described further later in this introduction) it is very possible to monitor the effectiveness of each WHP recommended for each ELU by having tissue samples analysed for residue content at the end of the WHP. The information from this monitoring would have enormous benefits in allowing a uniform and evidence-based approach to WHP determination and recommendation.

ELU in the multitude of species not used for food production does not require consideration of WHPs. However, capturing information on the effectiveness and safety of this ELU will also have significant benefits in refining the treatment of new species.

Compounded Veterinary Medicines

Compounded veterinary medicines (CVMs) have recently begun to fill the large gap between registered veterinary medicine and unmet need. In recognition of the important role of compounded medicines and the absence of regulatory clarity the AVA have prepared and distributed guidelines for the preparation and use of compounded pharmaceuticals (AVA 2020a). However, there is also a need to define Good Compounding Practice for Veterinary Medicines (GCPvm) and to ensure that it is implemented. This is a task that the AVA are currently working on via the AVA Veterinary Compounding Working Group.

How important are CVMs to veterinary practice?

A survey of AVA members was undertaken in June 2020 to inquire about the use of CVMs in contemporary veterinary practice. A total of 747 responses were received. Respondents were from 39% suburban, 22% urban and 31% rural practices, with the majority of the case load being companion animals in 71%, mixed practice in 14%, equine practice 9%, with zoo, exotic and unusual pets being the major focus in 2%.

In this study, 82% of responding veterinarians reported using CVMs, but frequency of use was low (71% of responding veterinarians used CVMs once or less each day).

With respect to adverse drug reactions, 81% of respondents reported no ADRs associated with CVMs, while 19% had experienced at least one ADR, 1% described frequent ADRs, 1% saw ADRs at the same frequency as with registered veterinary medicines and the remainder (17%) reported ADRs occasionally to extremely rarely.

While use of CVMs is much lower than the use of registered products, CVMs nevertheless occupy an important role, which is likely to expand in the decades ahead. The absence of specific training of pharmacists in the preparation of CVMs and the absence of any accreditation of pharmacists in the quality of CVMs are fundamental deficiencies that the AVA is endeavouring to address.

Precision veterinary medicine

With regard to pharmaceuticals, precision medicine consists of four key elements:

- 1. Right diagnosis
- 2. Right drug
- 3. Right time
- 4. Right dose

Access to veterinary medicines and use guided by the refinements provided by the progressive availability of real-world evidence are fundamental elements of precision medicine – right diagnosis, right drug, right time, right dose. The benefits and desirability of precision medicine are keenly sought in both human medicine (Dahabreh et al. 2016; Dugger et al. 2018; Hunter and Longo 2019; McColl et al. 2019; Peck 2016; Peck 2018; Percha et al. 2019; Rawson et al. 2018) and veterinary medicine (Almela and Bäumer 2017; Buckley and Lyons 2020; Gray et al. 2018; Katogiritis and Khanna 2019; Klopfleisch 2015; Lloyd et al. 2016; and Pang and Argyle 2016) and precision medicine will occupy a prominent place in veterinary medicine well into the future.

Efficacy, Effectiveness, Efficiency

Precision medicine relies on effectiveness, but what does this mean?

The important distinction between efficacy and effectiveness has been described in an Editorial in the BMJ (Haynes 1999) where it is acknowledged that the British pioneer clinical epidemiologist Archie Cochrane defined efficacy as the extent to which an intervention does more good than harm under ideal circumstances ("Can it work?") and effectiveness as the assessment as to whether an intervention does more good than harm when provided under usual circumstances of medical practice ("Does it work in practice?"). It is well known in veterinary practice that determining the best treatment for an individual (the task of the veterinarian – effectiveness assessment) is fundamentally different from determining the average effect of treatment in a population (the purpose of a trial - efficacy). The concept of heterogeneity of treatment effects (Dahabreh et al. 2016) is essential in providing the evidence base for precision medicine and patient-centred care as there are inherent limitations of using group data (efficacy data for example provided by a randomized trial) to guide treatment decisions for individual patients (where prediction of effectiveness is the key requirement).

Real World Data and Real World Evidence

There has been growing interest in the use of Real World Data (RWD) and Real World Evidence (RWE) to monitor and assess effectiveness and the US Center for Veterinary Medicine (CVM 2020c) has recently released a guidance document that defines real-world data and real-world evidence as follows:

Real-World Data (RWD) are data collected from a variety of sources relating to the health and productivity of animals, the delivery of veterinary care, or the management of livestock/animals for food.

Examples of RWD applicable to veterinary medicines include:

- Data derived from health records of veterinary practices, farms, or livestock management companies (including handwritten paper records and electronic veterinary medical records;
- Data from product and disease registries;

- Data from other sources that can inform on animal health status such as mobile and/or remote health sensing devices for animals;
- Data generated by animal owners;
- Data from diagnostic laboratory, slaughterhouse, and abattoir records;
- Companion animal and livestock insurance claims (for example, Hardefeldt et al 2018;a Wolf et al 2020); and
- Data from surveillance programs.

Real-World Evidence (RWE) is the clinical evidence of the effectiveness of a new veterinary medicine derived from analysis of RWD.

Because RWD are collected as part of the routine care and management of animals, including their health and/or productivity, these data may be useful to support effectiveness and safety (contributing to pharmacovigilance) of a drug in a diverse population of animals and conditions of use.

The potential use of various RWD sources to generate RWE to support assessment of effectiveness and safety or reasonable expectation of effectiveness is dependent on:

- Selection of data sources that appropriately address the study question and sufficiently capture representative study populations, exposure, outcomes of interest, and key covariates (RWD relevance);
- RWD quality; and
- Design and analysis of studies utilizing RWD to generate RWE.

Because of the importance of effectiveness and safety of human (and veterinary) medicines the collection of RWD and the translation to RWE has received considerable attention (Bartlett et al. 2019; Basch and Schrag 2019; Beaulieu-Jones et al. 2020; Bolislis et al. 2020; Breckenridge et al. 2019; Brouillette 2020; Corrigan-Curay et al. 2018; de Lusignan et al. 2015; ElZarrad and Corrigan-Curay 2019; Franklin et al. 2020; Jarow et al. 2017; Keizer et al. 2020; Lamberti et al. 2018; Lasky et al. 2020; Miksad et al. 2019; Oehrlein et al. 2018; Patorno et al. 2020; Ramagopalan et al. 2020; Ramamoorthy and Huang 2019; Rivera et al 2019; Scoble, et al. 2020; Seifu et al. 2020; Sherman et al. 2016; Snyder et al. 2020; Spitzer et al. 2018; Swift et al. 2018; Tyczynski and Kilpatrick 2019; Wang et al. 2020; Wu et al. 2020; Yuan et al. 2018).

To identify new indications for established medicines and to capture experiences of better use of existing medicines the FDA has established a website where RWD from experiences in human medical practice can be posted for later analysis (FDA and NCATS 2020). A similar approach of collecting information could be very beneficial in veterinary medicine.

A highly valuable source of RWD is that provided by the clinical records of individual patients.

The General Practice Research Database (GPRD) is a well-established and productive (almost 1,000 research publications have been generated) example of a UK human Primary Care Data resource (Williams et al. 2012; Wood and Martinez 2004) that allows rich mining of copious data. However, the use of veterinary clinical records to improve decision making and enhance the use of veterinary medicines is a more recent and rapidly expanding field that can be expected to transform and refine current and future veterinary practice (Awaysheh et al. 2019; Faunt et al. 2007; Glickman et al. 2005;

Glickman et al. 2006; Guevara et al. 2019; Hale et al. 2019; Hur et al. 2019; Hur et al. 2020; Jones-Diette et al. 2016; Jones-Diette et al. 2017; Jones-Diette et al. 2019; Kass et al. 2016; Lund 2015; McGreevy et al. 2017; Moore et al. 2007; Moore, et al. 2005a; Moore, et al. 2005b; Muellner et al. 2016; Nelson et al. 2017; Radford et al. 2011; Sanchez-Vizcaino et al. 2015; Schofield et al. 2020; Vandeweerd 2019; and Yao et al. 2015).

The Banfield Pet Hospital national computerized record system in the US (for example, Glickman et al. 2006), SAVSNET, the small animal veterinary surveillance network (Radford et al. 2011 and Sanchez-Vizcaino et al. 2015) and VetCompass (Hur et al. 2019; Hur et al. 2020; McGreevy et al. 2017; and Schofield et al. 2020) each provide numerous examples of collecting RWD and converting it to RWE to guide improvements in veterinary practice. Concerns at the safety of vaccination of dogs and cats or the use of a particular heartworm preventive medicine have all been examined by the use of RWD and RWE (Glickman et al. 2005; Moore et al. 2007; Moore, et al. 2005a; Moore, et al. 2005b; and Yao et al. 2015), with concerns allayed on the basis of the practical experience revealed by examination of clinical records.

Other significant responsibilities of the veterinary profession

Animal welfare

Veterinarians are committed to the health and welfare of animals, with ethical, legal and professional responsibilities (for example, Salvin et al 2020). When selecting and using a veterinary medicine the welfare implications are always included in the assessment of the balance of benefits and risks.

Pain management is a significant undertaking of veterinarians with avoidance or minimisation of pain is preferred but the use of analgesic veterinary medicines is a growing requirement.

Emerging infectious diseases

The seminal publication by Jones et al (2008) on global trends in emerging infectious diseases (EID) reviewed what was already known but highlighted the significant burden of EID on global economies and public health. Furthermore, the review founds that 60% of EIDs had an animal origin (ie they were zoonotic) and that 72% of these zoonotic diseases originated in wildlife, and it was reaffirmed by other authors (Watanabe 2008) that wildlife may be the source of the next pandemic. The current coronavirus pandemic is a stark reminder of the truth of these predictions. There is considerable attention applied to EID (for example, Allen et al 2017; Bueno-Marí et al 2015; Carroll et al 2018; Cutler et al 2010; Halliday et al 2017; Kruse et al 2004; Le Turnier et al 2020; Machalaba and Karesh 2017; Ogden et al 2017; Plowright et al 2019; Scott et al 2020; Thompson and Kutz 2019) with the veterinary profession playing a central role. However, collaborative and cross disciplinary approaches are essential, providing renewed relevance and attention to the concept of One Health.

One Health

The One Health Commission defines One Health as a "collaborative, multisectoral, and transdisciplinary approach - working at local, regional, national, and global levels - to achieve optimal health and well-being outcomes recognizing the interconnections between people, animals, plants and their shared environment"

(https://www.onehealthcommission.org/en/why_one_health/what_is_one_health/). In the context of EID and AMR, the veterinary profession expends considerable resources and has gained significant expertise in one health (Barnett et al 2020; Connolly 2020; Franco-Martínez et al 2020; Harrison et al 2020; Hemida and Ba Abduallah 2020; Humboldt-Dachroeden et al 2020; Jenkins et al 2015; Leroy et

al 2020; Lustgarten et al 2020; Mackenzie and Jeggo 2019; Narrod et al 2012; One Health Initiative Task Force 2008; Overgaauw et al 2020). When veterinary medicines (pharmaceutical and vaccines) are required to contain an EID or to reduce the likelihood of AMR, a facilitating and cooperative regulatory environment is essential.

Antimicrobial resistance and stewardship

The AVA has been actively involved in fighting the emergence of antimicrobial resistance for more than 30 years with the development of guidelines, codes of practice and policies (https://www.ava.com.au/library-resources/other-resources/fighting-antimicrobial-resistance/).

The AVA work closely with the medical community to address the intersecting issues of antimicrobial resistance. The AVA is represented on the Australian Strategic and Technical Advisory Group on AMR (ASTAG) which has developed importance ratings of antibacterial agents used in human and animal health in Australia (ASTAG 2018). The recommendations of ASTAG are reflected in the prescribing guidelines and antimicrobial stewardship plans implemented in veterinary practice.

The AVA has published comprehensive guidance on prescribing and dispensing of veterinary medicines (AVA 2005), including antimicrobial agents, and the use of antimicrobials in veterinary practice has been the subject of a number of published surveys (Hardefeldt et al 2017, 2018a; Badger et al 2020), the results of which guide continuous improvement discussions and actions.

The veterinary profession in Australia has worked closely with all areas of animal health to develop the principles of antimicrobial stewardship (AMS) (Weese et al 2013; Lloyd and Page 2018) and AMS programmes for the chicken meat industry (Alfirevich 2019), pork industry (van Breda et al 2019), dairy cattle (Coombe et al 2019), feedlot cattle (Badger et al 2020), and horses (Raidal 2019). Supporting the species specific AMS programmes has been the development and introduction of antimicrobial prescribing guidelines for pigs (Cutler et al 2020) and poultry (Gray et al 2020) with other guidelines in the process of development (https://www.ava.com.au/library-resources/otherresources/fighting-antimicrobial-resistance/). Further support has been provided by an online AMS training (Norris et al 2019) and the recent First Australian Veterinary AMS conference (AVAMS18 2018), with a second conference originally planned for 2020, but now rescheduled (as a result of the current pandemic) for 2021.

Other resistance issues

Managing resistance to ecto- and endo-parasiticides is a major challenge is some regions and/or sheep/goat and other livestock enterprises. Such resistance is often an unrecognised limit to productivity and/or cause of compromised animal health and welfare. For some sheep enterprises, this represents the need for the most critical input by veterinarians.

Conclusion

The practice of veterinary medicine is becoming more specialised and sophisticated as new technologies become available to help detect and diagnose disease and as new treatments become available to manage the health and welfare of veterinary patients.

Access to high quality medicines and continual monitoring of effectiveness and safety will remain core elements of veterinary practice in the future.

The veterinary profession is constantly adopting new approaches to refine and perfect its approach to precision medicine. Working closely within a regulatory environment that facilities and supports

the evolution of the profession and its practices will ensure that owners and their animals receive the best possible treatment.

REFERENCES

Alfirevich, S. (2019). "Antimicrobial stewardship in the Australian chicken meat industry." <u>Australian</u> <u>Veterinary Journal</u> **97**(7): 235-237.

Allen, T., K. A. Murray, C. Zambrana-Torrelio, S. S. Morse, C. Rondinini, M. Di Marco, N. Breit, K. J. Olival and P. Daszak (2017). "Global hotspots and correlates of emerging zoonotic diseases." <u>Nat</u> <u>Commun</u> **8**(1): 1124.

Almela, R. M. and W. Bäumer (2017). "Should precision medicine be encouraged in veterinary dermatology?" <u>Veterinary Dermatology</u> **28**(5): 52.

Animal Medicines Australia and Newgate Research (2019). <u>Pets in Australia: A national survey of</u> <u>pets and people</u>. Canberra, Animal Medicines Australia Pty Ltd.

ASTAG (Australian Strategic and Technical Advisory Group on AMR) (2018). <u>Importance Ratings and</u> <u>Summary of Antibacterial Uses in Human and Animal Health in Australia, Version 1.0 (2018)</u>. Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia.

AVA (Australian Veterinary Association) (2005). Guidelines for Prescribing, Authorising and Dispensing Veterinary Medicines. M. P. Bond. Canberra, Australian Veterinary Association.

AVA (Australian Veterinary Association) (2020). Guidelines for the preparation and use of compounded pharmaceuticals. Sydney, Australian Veterinary Association.

AVAMS18. (2018). "Australian Veterinary Antimicrobial Stewardship (AMS) Conference. 11-13 November, 2018. Sunshine Coast, Queensland." Retrieved 1 May 2018, from http://avams2018.w.yrd.currinda.com/.

Awaysheh, A., J. Wilcke, F. Elvinger, L. Rees, W. Fan and K. L. Zimmerman (2019). "Review of Medical Decision Support and Machine-Learning Methods." <u>Veterinary Pathology</u> **56**(4): 512-525.

Badger, S., K. Sullivan, D. Jordan, C. Caraguel, S. Page, P. Cusack, D. Frith and D. Trott (2020). "Antimicrobial use and stewardship practices on Australian beef feedlots." <u>Australian Veterinary</u> <u>Journal</u> **98**(1-2): 37-47.

Barnett, T., D. U. Pfeiffer, M. Ahasanul Hoque, M. Giasuddin, M. S. Flora, P. K. Biswas, N. Debnath and G. Fournié (2020). "Practising co-production and interdisciplinarity: Challenges and implications for one health research." <u>Prev Vet Med</u> **177**: 104949.

Bartlett, V. L., S. S. Dhruva, N. D. Shah, P. Ryan and J. S. Ross (2019). "Feasibility of Using Real-World Data to Replicate Clinical Trial Evidence." JAMA Network Open **2**(10): e1912869-e1912869.

Basch, E. and D. Schrag (2019). "The Evolving Uses of "Real-World" Data." JAMA 321(14): 1359-1360.

Beaulieu-Jones, B. K., S. G. Finlayson, W. Yuan, R. B. Altman, I. S. Kohane, V. Prasad and K.-H. Yu (2020). "Examining the Use of Real-World Evidence in the Regulatory Process." <u>Clinical</u> <u>Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u> **107**(4): 843-852.

Ben Braïek, O. and S. Smaoui (2019). "Enterococci: Between Emerging Pathogens and Potential Probiotics." <u>Biomed Res Int</u> **2019**: 5938210.

Bhat, S. (2021). 12 - 3D printing equipment in medicine. <u>3D Printing in Medicine and Surgery</u>. D. J. Thomas and D. Singh, Woodhead Publishing: 223-261.

Bolislis, W. R., M. Fay and T. C. Kühler (2020). "Use of Real-world Data for New Drug Applications and Line Extensions." <u>Clinical Therapeutics</u> **42**(5): 926-938.

Breckenridge, A. M., R. A. Breckenridge and C. C. Peck (2019). "Report on the current status of the use of real-world data (RWD) and real-world evidence (RWE) in drug development and regulation." <u>British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology</u> **85**(9): 1874-1877.

Brodmann, T., A. Endo, M. Gueimonde, G. Vinderola, W. Kneifel, W. M. de Vos, S. Salminen and C. Gómez-Gallego (2017). "Safety of Novel Microbes for Human Consumption: Practical Examples of Assessment in the European Union." <u>Front Microbiol</u> **8**: 1725.

Brouillette, M. (2020). "The FDA brings real-world data head to head with clinical trials." <u>Nature</u> <u>Medicine</u> **26**(3): 302-303.

Buckley, R. M. and L. A. Lyons (2020). "Precision/Genomic Medicine for Domestic Cats." <u>Vet Clin</u> <u>North Am Small Anim Pract</u>.

Bueno-Marí, R., A. P. Almeida and J. C. Navarro (2015). "Editorial: Emerging Zoonoses: Eco-Epidemiology, Involved Mechanisms, and Public Health Implications." <u>Front Public Health</u> **3**: 157.

Byers, C. G. (2020). "Biosecurity Measures in Clinical Practice." <u>Veterinary Clinics of North America:</u> <u>Small Animal Practice</u>.

Carroll, D., B. Watson, E. Togami, P. Daszak, J. A. Mazet, C. J. Chrisman, E. M. Rubin, N. Wolfe, C. M. Morel, G. F. Gao, G. L. Burci, K. Fukuda, P. Auewarakul and O. Tomori (2018). "Building a global atlas of zoonotic viruses." <u>Bull World Health Organ</u> **96**(4): 292-294.

Castro-González, J. M., P. Castro, H. Sandoval and D. Castro-Sandoval (2019). "Probiotic Lactobacilli Precautions." <u>Front Microbiol</u> **10**: 375.

Chandler, M., S. Cunningham, E. M. Lund, C. Khanna, R. Naramore, A. Patel and M. J. Day (2017). "Obesity and Associated Comorbidities in People and Companion Animals: A One Health Perspective." <u>J Comp Pathol</u> **156**(4): 296-309.

Chang, A. C. (2020). Part I - Introduction to Artificial Intelligence. <u>Intelligence-Based Medicine</u>. A. C. Chang, Academic Press: 1-6.

Connolly, J. (2020). "Global Crisis Leadership for Disease-Induced Threats: One Health and Urbanisation." <u>Glob Policy</u>.

Coombe, J., S. Tymms and M. Humphris (2019). "Antimicrobial stewardship in the dairy industry: responding to the threat of antimicrobial resistance." <u>Australian Veterinary Journal</u> **97**(7): 231-232.

Corrigan-Curay, J., L. Sacks and J. Woodcock (2018). "Real-world evidence and real-world data for evaluating drug safety and effectiveness." JAMA **320**(9): 867-868.

Cutler, R., B. Gleeson, S. Page, J. Norris, G. Browning, A. V. A. Ltd and A. M. Australia (2020). "Antimicrobial prescribing guidelines for pigs." <u>Australian Veterinary Journal</u> **98**(4): 105-134.

Cutler, S. J., A. R. Fooks and W. H. van der Poel (2010). "Public health threat of new, reemerging, and neglected zoonoses in the industrialized world." <u>Emerg Infect Dis</u> **16**(1): 1-7.

CVM (2020a). GFI #61 Special Considerations, Incentives, and Programs to Support the Approval of New Animal Drugs for Minor Uses and for Minor Species. Rockville, MD, Center for Veterinary Medicine.

CVM (2020b). GFI #265 Use of Data from Foreign Investigational Studies to Support Effectiveness of New Animal Drugs Rockville, MD, Center for Veterinary Medicine.

CVM (2020c). GFI #266 Use of Real-World Data and Real-World Evidence to Support Effectiveness of New Animal Drugs Rockville, MD, Center for Veterinary Medicine.

CVM (2020d). GFI #267 Biomarkers and Surrogate Endpoints in Clinical Studies to Support Effectiveness of New Animal Drugs. Rockville, MD, Center for Veterinary Medicine.

CVM (2020e). GFI #268 Adaptive and Other Innovative Designs for Effectiveness Studies of New Animal Drugs Rockville, MD, Center for Veterinary Medicine.

Dahabreh, I. J., R. Hayward and D. M. Kent (2016). "Using group data to treat individuals: understanding heterogeneous treatment effects in the age of precision medicine and patient-centred evidence." <u>Int J Epidemiol</u> **45**(6): 2184-2193.

Das, D. J., A. Shankar, J. B. Johnson and S. Thomas (2020). "Critical insights into antibiotic resistance transferability in probiotic Lactobacillus." <u>Nutrition</u> **69**: 110567.

de Lusignan, S., L. Crawford and N. Munro (2015). "Creating and using real-world evidence to answer questions about clinical effectiveness." J Innov Health Inform **22**(3): 368-373.

de Melo Pereira, G. V., B. de Oliveira Coelho, A. I. Magalhães Júnior, V. Thomaz-Soccol and C. R. Soccol (2018). "How to select a probiotic? A review and update of methods and criteria." <u>Biotechnol</u> <u>Adv</u> **36**(8): 2060-2076.

Dugger, S. A., A. Platt and D. B. Goldstein (2018). "Drug development in the era of precision medicine." <u>Nature Reviews Drug Discovery</u> **17**(3): 183-196.

ElZarrad, M. K. and J. Corrigan-Curay (2019). "The US Food and Drug Administration's Real-World Evidence Framework: A Commitment for Engagement and Transparency on Real-World Evidence." <u>Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u> **106**(1): 33-35.

Faunt, K., E. Lund and W. Novak (2007). "The power of practice: harnessing patient outcomes for clinical decision making." <u>Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract</u> **37**(3): 521-532.

FDA and NCATS (2020). CURE ID, National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences.

Franco-Martínez, L., S. Martínez-Subiela, J. J. Cerón, F. Tecles, P. D. Eckersall, K. Oravcova and A. Tvarijonaviciute (2020). "Biomarkers of health and welfare: A One Health perspective from the laboratory side." <u>Res Vet Sci</u> **128**: 299-307.

Franklin, J. M., A. Pawar, D. Martin, R. J. Glynn, M. Levenson, R. Temple and S. Schneeweiss (2020). "Nonrandomized Real-World Evidence to Support Regulatory Decision Making: Process for a Randomized Trial Replication Project." <u>Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u> **107**(4): 817-826.

Glickman, L. T., N. W. Glickman, G. E. Moore, R. Cobb, S. A. Connell, M. Morrison and H. B. Lewis (2005). "Safety Profile of Moxidectin (ProHeart 6) and Two Oral Heartworm Preventives in Dogs." Intern J Appl Res Vet Med **3**(2): 49-61.

Glickman, L. T., G. E. Moore, N. W. Glickman, R. J. Caldanaro, D. Aucoin and H. B. Lewis (2006). "Purdue University-Banfield National Companion Animal Surveillance Program for emerging and zoonotic diseases." <u>Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis</u> **6**(1): 14-23.

Gray, M., J. Meehan, C. Ward, S. P. Langdon, I. H. Kunkler, A. Murray and D. Argyle (2018). "Implantable biosensors and their contribution to the future of precision medicine." <u>Vet J</u> **239**: 21-29.

Gray, P., R. Jenner, S. W. Page, J. Norris and G. Browning. (2020). Antimicrobial prescribing guidelines for poultry, Australian Veterinary Association.

Guevara, N. T., E. Hofmeister, M. Ebell and I. Locatelli (2019). "Study to determine clinical decision thresholds in small animal veterinary practice." <u>Vet Rec</u> **185**(6): 170.

Hale, A. C., F. Sánchez-Vizcaíno, B. Rowlingson, A. D. Radford, E. Giorgi, S. J. O'Brien and P. J. Diggle (2019). "A real-time spatio-temporal syndromic surveillance system with application to small companion animals." <u>Sci Rep</u> **9**(1): 17738.

Halliday, J. E. B., K. Hampson, N. Hanley, T. Lembo, J. P. Sharp, D. T. Haydon and S. Cleaveland (2017). "Driving improvements in emerging disease surveillance through locally relevant capacity strengthening." <u>Science</u> **357**(6347): 146-148.

Hardefeldt, L. Y., J. R. Gilkerson, H. Billman-Jacobe, M. A. Stevenson, K. Thursky, G. F. Browning and K. E. Bailey (2018b). "Antimicrobial labelling in Australia: a threat to antimicrobial stewardship?" Aust Vet J **96**(5): 151-154.

Hardefeldt, L. Y., S. Holloway, D. J. Trott, M. Shipstone, V. R. Barrs, R. Malik, M. Burrows, S. Armstrong, G. F. Browning and M. Stevenson (2017). "Antimicrobial Prescribing in Dogs and Cats in Australia: Results of the Australasian Infectious Disease Advisory Panel Survey." <u>Journal of Veterinary</u> Internal Medicine **31**(4): 1100-1107.

Hardefeldt, L. Y., J. Selinger, M. A. Stevenson, J. R. Gilkerson, H. Crabb, H. Billman-Jacobe, K. Thursky, K. E. Bailey, M. Awad and G. F. Browning (2018a). "Population wide assessment of antimicrobial use in dogs and cats using a novel data source - A cohort study using pet insurance data." <u>Vet Microbiol</u> **225**: 34-39.

Harrison, S., M. G. Baker, J. Benschop, R. G. Death, N. P. French, G. Harmsworth, R. J. Lake, I. L. Lamont, P. C. Priest, J. E. Ussher and D. R. Murdoch (2020). "One Health Aotearoa: a transdisciplinary initiative to improve human, animal and environmental health in New Zealand." <u>One Health Outlook</u> **2**(1): 4.

Haynes, B. (1999). "Can it work? Does it work? Is it worth it? The testing of healthcareinterventions is evolving." <u>Bmj</u> **319**(7211): 652-653.

Hemida, M. G. and M. M. Ba Abduallah (2020). "The SARS-CoV-2 outbreak from a one health perspective." <u>One Health</u>: 100127.

Humboldt-Dachroeden, S., O. Rubin and S. Sylvester Frid-Nielsen (2020). "The state of One Health research across disciplines and sectors – a bibliometric analysis." <u>One Health</u> **10**: 100146.

Hunter, D. J. and D. L. Longo (2019). "The Precision of Evidence Needed to Practice "Precision Medicine"." <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> **380**(25): 2472-2474.

Hur, B., L. Y. Hardefeldt, K. Verspoor, T. Baldwin and J. R. Gilkerson (2019). "Using natural language processing and VetCompass to understand antimicrobial usage patterns in Australia." <u>Aust Vet J</u> **97**(8): 298-300.

Hur, B. A., L. Y. Hardefeldt, K. M. Verspoor, T. Baldwin and J. R. Gilkerson (2020). "Describing the antimicrobial usage patterns of companion animal veterinary practices; free text analysis of more than 4.4 million consultation records." <u>PLoS One</u> **15**(3): e0230049.

Jarow, J. P., L. LaVange and J. Woodcock (2017). "Multidimensional evidence generation and fda regulatory decision making: Defining and using "real-world" data." JAMA **318**(8): 703-704.

Jenkins, E. J., A. Simon, N. Bachand and C. Stephen (2015). "Wildlife parasites in a One Health world." <u>Trends Parasitol</u> **31**(5): 174-180.

Jeżewska-Frąckowiak, J., K. Seroczyńska, J. Banaszczyk, G. Jedrzejczak, A. Żylicz-Stachula and P. M. Skowron (2018). "The promises and risks of probiotic Bacillus species." <u>Acta Biochim Pol</u> **65**(4): 509-519.

Jones, K. E., N. G. Patel, M. A. Levy, A. Storeygard, D. Balk, J. L. Gittleman and P. Daszak (2008). "Global trends in emerging infectious diseases." <u>Nature</u> **451**(7181): 990-993.

Jones-Diette, J., N. J. Robinson, M. Cobb, M. L. Brennan and R. S. Dean (2017). "Accuracy of the electronic patient record in a first opinion veterinary practice." <u>Preventive Veterinary Medicine</u> **148**: 121-126.

Jones-Diette, J. S., M. L. Brennan, M. Cobb, H. Doit and R. S. Dean (2016). "A method for extracting electronic patient record data from practice management software systems used in veterinary practice." <u>BMC Veterinary Research</u> **12**(1).

Jones-Diette, J. S., R. S. Dean, M. Cobb and M. L. Brennan (2019). "Validation of text-mining and content analysis techniques using data collected from veterinary practice management software systems in the UK." <u>Preventive Veterinary Medicine</u> **167**: 61-67.

Kass, P. H., H. Y. Weng, M. A. Gaona, A. Hille, M. H. Sydow, E. M. Lund and P. J. Markwell (2016). "Syndromic surveillance in companion animals utilizing electronic medical records data: development and proof of concept." <u>PeerJ</u> **4**: e1940.

Katogiritis, A. and C. Khanna (2019). "Towards the Delivery of Precision Veterinary Cancer Medicine." <u>Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice</u> **49**(5): 809-818.

Keizer, R. J., E. Dvergsten, A. Kolacevski, A. Black, S. Karovic, S. Goswami and M. L. Maitland (2020). "Get Real: Integration of Real-World Data to Improve Patient Care." <u>Clinical Pharmacology &</u> <u>Therapeutics</u> **107**(4): 722-725.

Klopfleisch, R. (2015). "Personalised medicine in veterinary oncology: one to cure just one." <u>Vet J</u> **205**(2): 128-135.

Kothari, D., S. Patel and S. K. Kim (2019). "Probiotic supplements might not be universally-effective and safe: A review." <u>Biomed Pharmacother</u> **111**: 537-547.

Kruse, H., A. M. kirkemo and K. Handeland (2004). "Wildlife as source of zoonotic infections." <u>Emerg</u> <u>Infect Dis</u> **10**(12): 2067-2072. Lamberti, M. J., W. Kubick, J. Awatin, J. McCormick, J. Carroll and K. Getz (2018). "The Use of Real-World Evidence and Data in Clinical Research and Postapproval Safety Studies." <u>Ther Innov Regul Sci</u> **52**(6): 778-783.

Lasky, T., B. Carleton, D. B. Horton, L. E. Kelly, D. Bennett, A. S. Czaja, D. Gifkins, O. U. Osokogu and A. W. McMahon (2020). "Real-World Evidence to Assess Medication Safety or Effectiveness in Children: Systematic Review." <u>Drugs Real World Outcomes</u> **7**(2): 97-107.

Le Turnier, P., C. Leport, P. Martin, C. Jadand, B. Hoen and J. F. Guégan (2020). "Multi-sectorial research is paramount for preventing and controlling emerging infectious diseases." <u>Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique</u> **68**(2): 133-136.

Lee, N. K., W. S. Kim and H. D. Paik (2019). "Bacillus strains as human probiotics: characterization, safety, microbiome, and probiotic carrier." <u>Food Sci Biotechnol</u> **28**(5): 1297-1305.

Leroy, E. M., M. Ar Gouilh and J. Brugère-Picoux (2020). "The risk of SARS-CoV-2 transmission to pets and other wild and domestic animals strongly mandates a one-health strategy to control the COVID-19 pandemic." <u>One Health</u>: 100133.

Li, T., D. Teng, R. Mao, Y. Hao, X. Wang and J. Wang (2020). "A critical review of antibiotic resistance in probiotic bacteria." <u>Food Research International</u> **136**: 109571.

Lloyd, D. H. and S. W. Page (2018). Antimicrobial Stewardship in Veterinary Medicine. <u>Antimicrobial</u> <u>Resistance in Bacteria from Livestock and Companion Animals</u>. F. M. Aarestrup, S. Schwarz, J. Shen and L. Cavaco. Washington, DC, American Society for Microbiology: 675-697.

Lloyd, K. C., C. Khanna, W. Hendricks, J. Trent and M. Kotlikoff (2016). "Precision medicine: an opportunity for a paradigm shift in veterinary medicine." <u>J Am Vet Med Assoc</u> **248**(1): 45-48.

Lund, E. M. (2015). "Power of practice: using clinical data to advance veterinary medicine." <u>Vet Rec</u> **176**(2): 46-47.

Lustgarten, J. L., A. Zehnder, W. Shipman, E. Gancher and T. L. Webb (2020). "Veterinary informatics: forging the future between veterinary medicine, human medicine, and One Health initiatives—a joint paper by the Association for Veterinary Informatics (AVI) and the CTSA One Health Alliance (COHA)." JAMIA Open **3**(2): 306-317.

Machalaba, C. M. and W. B. Karesh (2017). "Emerging infectious disease risk: shared drivers with environmental change." <u>Rev Sci Tech</u> **36**(2): 435-444.

Mackenzie, J. S. and M. Jeggo (2019). "The One Health Approach-Why Is It So Important?" <u>Trop Med</u> Infect Dis **4**(2).

McColl, E. R., R. Asthana, M. F. Paine and M. Piquette-Miller (2019). "The Age of Omics-Driven Precision Medicine." <u>Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u> **106**(3): 477-481.

McGreevy, P., P. Thomson, N. K. Dhand, D. Raubenheimer, S. Masters, C. S. Mansfield, T. Baldwin, R. J. Soares Magalhaes, J. Rand, P. Hill, A. Peaston, J. Gilkerson, M. Combs, S. Raidal, P. Irwin, P. Irons, R. Squires, D. Brodbelt and J. Hammond (2017). "VetCompass Australia: A National Big Data Collection System for Veterinary Science." <u>Animals (Basel)</u> **7**(10).

Miksad, R. A., M. K. Samant, S. Sarkar and A. P. Abernethy (2019). "Small But Mighty: The Use of Real-World Evidence to Inform Precision Medicine." <u>Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u> **106**(1): 87-90.

Mills, P., S. W. Page and A. Craig (2011). <u>Veterinary pharmacology curriculum renewal to improve</u> <u>graduate outcomes and public safety</u>. Sydney, NSW, Australian Learning and Teaching Council (ALTC).

Moore, G. E., A. C. DeSantis-Kerr, L. F. Guptill, N. W. Glickman, H. B. Lewis and L. T. Glickman (2007). "Adverse events after vaccine administration in cats: 2,560 cases (2002-2005)." <u>J Am Vet Med Assoc</u> **231**(1): 94-100.

Moore, G. E., T. S. Frana, L. F. Guptill, M. P. Ward, H. B. Lewis and L. T. Glickman (2005). "Postmarketing surveillance for dog and cat vaccines: new resources in changing times." <u>J Am Vet</u> <u>Med Assoc</u> **227**(7): 1066-1069.

Moore, G. E., L. F. Guptill, M. P. Ward, N. W. Glickman, K. K. Faunt, H. B. Lewis and L. T. Glickman (2005). "Adverse events diagnosed within three days of vaccine administration in dogs." <u>J Am Vet Med Assoc</u> **227**(7): 1102-1108.

Muellner, P., U. Muellner, M. C. Gates, T. Pearce, C. Ahlstrom, D. O'Neill, D. Brodbelt and N. J. Cave (2016). "Evidence in Practice - A Pilot Study Leveraging Companion Animal and Equine Health Data from Primary Care Veterinary Clinics in New Zealand." <u>Front Vet Sci</u> **3**: 116.

Narrod, C., J. Zinsstag and M. Tiongco (2012). "A one health framework for estimating the economic costs of zoonotic diseases on society." <u>Ecohealth</u> **9**(2): 150-162.

Nelson, C. T., E. S. Myrick and T. A. Nelson (2017). "Clinical benefits of incorporating doxycycline into a canine heartworm treatment protocol." <u>Parasit Vectors</u> **10**(Suppl 2): 515.

Norris, J. M., J. Heller, J. S. Gibson, L. Y. Hardefeldt, T. H. Hyndman, T. D. Nielsen, M. P. Ward, M. Govendir, J. P. Chambers, G. F. Browning, K. Wingett and S. Britton (2019). "Development of a veterinary antimicrobial stewardship online training program for Australian veterinarians: a national collaborative effort." <u>Aust Vet J</u> **97**(8): 290-291.

Oehrlein, E. M., J. S. Graff, E. M. Perfetto, C. D. Mullins, R. W. Dubois, C. Anyanwu and E. Onukwugha (2018). "PEER-REVIEWED JOURNAL EDITORS' VIEWS ON REAL-WORLD EVIDENCE." <u>Int J Technol</u> <u>Assess Health Care</u> **34**(1): 111-119.

Ogden, N. H., P. AbdelMalik and J. Pulliam (2017). "Emerging infectious diseases: prediction and detection." <u>Can Commun Dis Rep</u> **43**(10): 206-211.

One Health Initiative Task Force (2008). One health: A new professional imperative, American Veterinary Medical Association.

Overgaauw, P. A. M., C. M. Vinke, M. Hagen and L. J. A. Lipman (2020). "A One Health Perspective on the Human-Companion Animal Relationship with Emphasis on Zoonotic Aspects." <u>Int J Environ Res</u> <u>Public Health</u> **17**(11).

Pang, L. Y. and D. J. Argyle (2016). "Veterinary oncology: Biology, big data and precision medicine." Vet J **213**: 38-45.

Patorno, E., S. Schneeweiss and S. V. Wang (2020). "Transparency in real-world evidence (RWE) studies to build confidence for decision-making: Reporting RWE research in diabetes." <u>Diabetes Obes</u> <u>Metab</u> **22 Suppl 3**: 45-59.

Peck, R. W. (2016). "The right dose for every patient: a key step for precision medicine." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Drug Discov</u> **15**(3): 145-146. Peck, R. W. (2018). "Precision Medicine Is Not Just Genomics: The Right Dose for Every Patient." <u>Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology</u> **58**(1): 105-122.

Percha, B., E. B. Baskerville, M. Johnson, J. T. Dudley and N. Zimmerman (2019). "Designing Robust N-of-1 Studies for Precision Medicine: Simulation Study and Design Recommendations." <u>J Med</u> <u>Internet Res</u> **21**(4): e12641.

Plowright, R. K., D. J. Becker, H. McCallum and K. R. Manlove (2019). "Sampling to elucidate the dynamics of infections in reservoir hosts." <u>Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci</u> **374**(1782): 20180336.

Radford, A. D., P. J. Noble, K. P. Coyne, R. M. Gaskell, P. H. Jones, J. G. Bryan, C. Setzkorn, A. Tierney and S. Dawson (2011). "Antibacterial prescribing patterns in small animal veterinary practice identified via SAVSNET: the small animal veterinary surveillance network." <u>Vet Rec</u> **169**(12): 310.

Raidal, S. (2019). "Antimicrobial stewardship in equine practice." <u>Australian Veterinary Journal</u> **97**(7): 238-242.

Ramagopalan, S. V., A. Simpson and C. Sammon (2020). "Can real-world data really replace randomised clinical trials?" <u>BMC Medicine</u> **18**(1): 13.

Ramamoorthy, A. and S.-M. Huang (2019). "What Does It Take to Transform Real-World Data Into Real-World Evidence?" <u>Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u> **106**(1): 10-18.

Rawson, T. M., D. O'Hare, P. Herrero, S. Sharma, L. S. P. Moore, E. de Barra, J. A. Roberts, A. C. Gordon, W. Hope, P. Georgiou, A. E. G. Cass and A. H. Holmes (2018). "Delivering precision antimicrobial therapy through closed-loop control systems." <u>Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy</u> **73**(4): 835-843.

Rivera, D. R., J. S. H. Lee, E. Hsu, Muin J. Khoury, F. Meng, O. Olivero, L. Penberthy and G. D. Tourassi (2019). "Harnessing the Power of Collaboration and Training Within Clinical Data Science to Generate Real-World Evidence in the Era of Precision Oncology." <u>Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u> **106**(1): 60-66.

Salvin, H. E., A. M. Lees, L. M. Cafe, I. G. Colditz and C. Lee (2020). "Welfare of beef cattle in Australian feedlots: a review of the risks and measures." <u>Animal Production Science</u> **60**(13): 1569-1590.

Sanchez-Vizcaino, F., P. H. Jones, T. Menacere, B. Heayns, M. Wardeh, J. Newman, A. D. Radford, S. Dawson, R. Gaskell, P. J. Noble, S. Everitt, M. J. Day and K. McConnell (2015). "Small animal disease surveillance." <u>Vet Rec</u> **177**(23): 591-594.

Schofield, I., D. C. Brodbelt, A. R. L. Wilson, S. Niessen, D. Church and D. O'Neill (2020). "Survival analysis of 219 dogs with hyperadrenocorticism attending primary care practice in England." <u>Vet Rec</u> **186**(11): 348.

Scoble, P. J., J. Reilly and G. S. Tillotson (2020). "Real-World Use of Oritavancin for the Treatment of Osteomyelitis." <u>Drugs - real world outcomes</u> **7**(Suppl 1): 46-54.

Scott, A., M. Hernandez-Jover, P. Groves and J.-A. Toribio (2020). "An overview of avian influenza in the context of the Australian commercial poultry industry." <u>One Health</u> **10**: 100139.

Seifu, Y., M. Gamalo-Siebers, F. M. Barthel, J. Lin, J. Qiu, F. Cooner, S. Ruan and R. Walley (2020). "Real-World Evidence Utilization in Clinical Development Reflected by US Product Labeling: Statistical Review." <u>Ther Innov Regul Sci</u>. Selvin, J., D. Maity, A. Sajayan and G. S. Kiran (2020). "Revealing antibiotic resistance in therapeutic and dietary probiotic supplements." J Glob Antimicrob Resist **22**: 202-205.

Sharma, P., S. K. Tomar, P. Goswami, V. Sangwan and R. Singh (2014). "Antibiotic resistance among commercially available probiotics." <u>Food Research International</u> **57**: 176-195.

Sharma, P., S. K. Tomar, V. Sangwan, P. Goswami and R. Singh (2016). "Antibiotic Resistance of Lactobacillus sp. Isolated from Commercial Probiotic Preparations." <u>Journal of Food Safety</u> **36**(1): 38-51.

Sherman, R. E., S. A. Anderson, G. J. Dal Pan, G. W. Gray, T. Gross, N. L. Hunter, L. LaVange, D. Marinac-Dabic, P. W. Marks, M. A. Robb, J. Shuren, R. Temple, J. Woodcock, L. Q. Yue and R. M. Califf (2016). "Real-World Evidence — What Is It and What Can It Tell Us?" <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> **375**(23): 2293-2297.

Snyder, J. M., J. A. Pawloski and L. M. Poisson (2020). "Developing Real-world Evidence-Ready Datasets: Time for Clinician Engagement." <u>Curr Oncol Rep</u> **22**(5): 45.

Spitzer, E., C. P. Cannon and P. W. Serruys (2018). "Should real-world evidence be incorporated into regulatory approvals?" <u>Expert Opinion on Drug Safety</u> **17**(12): 1155-1159.

Swift, B., L. Jain, C. White, V. Chandrasekaran, A. Bhandari, D. A. Hughes and P. R. Jadhav (2018). "Innovation at the Intersection of Clinical Trials and Real-World Data Science to Advance Patient Care." <u>Clin Transl Sci</u>.

Thompson, A. and S. Kutz (2019). "Introduction to the Special Issue on 'Emerging Zoonoses and Wildlife'." Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl **9**: 322.

Tyczynski, J. E. and R. Kilpatrick (2019). Chapter 6 - Real-World Epidemiologic Studies and Patient Registries. <u>Pharmacovigilance: A Practical Approach</u>. T. Doan, C. Renz, M. Bhattacharya, F. Lievano and L. Scarazzini, Elsevier: 89-100.

van Breda, L., P. Mitchell and R. Cutler (2019). "Antimicrobial stewardship in the Australian pork industry." <u>Australian Veterinary Journal</u> **97**(9): 365-367.

Vandeweerd, J. M. (2019). "Understanding clinical decision making in small animal practice." <u>Vet Rec</u> **185**(6): 167-169.

Wang, K., N. Parrott, A. Olivares-Morales, S. Dudal, T. Singer, T. Lavé and B. Ribba (2020). "Real-World Data and Physiologically-Based Mechanistic Models for Precision Medicine." <u>Clinical</u> <u>Pharmacology & Therapeutics</u> **107**(4): 694-696.

Wang, X., Y. Yang and M. M. Huycke (2020). "Risks associated with enterococci as probiotics." <u>Food</u> <u>Res Int</u> **129**: 108788.

Watanabe, M. E. (2008). "Animal Reservoirs: Harboring the Next Pandemic." <u>Bioscience</u> **58**(8): 680-684.

Weese, J. S., S. W. Page and J. F. Prescott (2013). Antimicrobial Stewardship in Animals. <u>Antimicrobial</u> <u>Therapy in Veterinary Medicine (fifth edition)</u>. S. Giguere, J. F. Prescott and P. M. Dowling. Ames, Iowa, John Wiley & Sons, Inc: 117-132. Williams, T., T. van Staa, S. Puri and S. Eaton (2012). "Recent advances in the utility and use of the General Practice Research Database as an example of a UK Primary Care Data resource." <u>Ther Adv</u> <u>Drug Saf</u> **3**(2): 89-99.

Wolf, S., J. Selinger, M. Ward, P. Santos-Smith, M. Awad and A. Fawcett (2020). "Incidence of presenting complaints and diagnoses in insured Australian dogs." <u>Australian Veterinary Journal</u> **98**(7): 326-332.

Wood, L. and C. Martinez (2004). "The general practice research database: role in pharmacovigilance." <u>Drug Saf</u> **27**(12): 871-881.

Wu, J., C. Wang, S. Toh, F. E. Pisa and L. Bauer (2020). "Use of real-world evidence in regulatory decisions for rare diseases in the United States-Current status and future directions." <u>Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf</u>.

Yao, P. J., N. Stephenson, J. E. Foley, C. R. Toussieng, T. B. Farver, J. E. Sykes and K. A. Fleer (2015). "Incidence rates and risk factors for owner-reported adverse events following vaccination of dogs that did or did not receive a Leptospira vaccine." <u>J Am Vet Med Assoc</u> **247**(10): 1139-1145.

Yuan, H., M. S. Ali, E. S. Brouwer, C. J. Girman, J. J. Guo, J. L. Lund, E. Patorno, J. L. Slaughter, X. Wen and D. Bennett (2018). "Real-World Evidence: What It Is and What It Can Tell Us According to the International Society for Pharmacoepidemiology (ISPE) Comparative Effectiveness Research (CER) Special Interest Group (SIG)." <u>Clin Pharmacol Ther</u> **104**(2): 239-241.

Agvet Review Introduction

PROPOSED VISION STATEMENT

The proposed 'vision statement' for the system that the panel is inclined towards is:

An Australian regulatory system for agvet chemicals that provides all Australian primary producers and veterinarians with timely access to a similar range of approved agvet chemicals to their overseas competitors, while preserving human, animal, plant, and environmental health.

- 1) Do you support the proposed vision for the agvet chemicals regulatory system and is it sufficient to meet the needs of all stakeholders?
 - a) What, if any other considerations should be included in the vision?

Do you have any suggestions for reforms that could assist in achieving this vision that are not canvassed in this paper?

DISCUSSION

The vision statement should also include the promotion and facilitation of innovation and recognise the importance of veterinary medicines that are developed in Australia.

Chapter 1: is the national registration scheme working as needed?

1.1 State of the system

Discussion questions

- 2) Do you agree or disagree with the future trends identified and their implications for the agvet chemicals regulatory system?
 - a) Are there additional implications for the regulatory system posed by the trends identified that the panel has not adequately addressed? If yes, please provide details.
 - b) Are there other trends that the panel needs to consider in designing the future system?

DISCUSSION

Further to the summary of veterinary practice in the introduction, there is a well-established and clear trend for greater growth of companion animal veterinary medicines in terms of innovation and sales. It is expected that technologies increasing influencing human medicine (for example 3D printing [Bhat 2021]) will increasing lead to innovations in the development and availability of veterinary medicines.

Many new biological technologies are being developed, including (but of course not limited to) greater focus on the therapeutic use of monoclonal antibodies, CRISPr, micro RNA, and other gene therapies.

As consolidation of the veterinary medicines industry continues and as costs of product development, registration and supply increase, there is a growing need to consider the security of supply of veterinary medicines, especially for the vast number that are only manufactured outside Australia and imported for use.

It should be recognised that the veterinary profession as a whole is the repository of vast experience, expertise and practical knowledge of the medicine of animals and the diagnosis of disease. The regulator has special knowledge of regulatory science. The combination of these varied and complementary skill sets seems an obvious forum for ongoing collaboration and cooperation.

1.2 What should be the core objectives of the future system?

Proposed primary purpose statement

The panel would welcome feedback on the primary purpose statement of the system being:

The purpose of the agvet chemicals regulatory system is to protect the health and safety of people, animals, plants and the environment and provide safe and timely access to agvet chemicals.

It does this by preventing or managing unintended adverse consequences from exposure to agvet chemicals in food, the environment, and the workplace; and by ensuring that suitable pest management solutions are available to safely control the pests and diseases of plants, animals, and places, that threaten the health and safety of people, animals, plants and the environment.

The panel's proposed hierarchy of objectives.



Discussion questions

- 3) Do you support the proposed overarching primary purpose statement for the agvet chemicals regulatory system being safety and access?
 - a) Do you agree that the proposed hierarchy of simplified objectives provides greater clarity of their relative importance and is this supported? If not, why?
 - b) Are there objections to removing the domestic chemical manufacturing objective? If so, what are the objections?
 - c) Do you agree that the current objectives for efficiency, transparency and risk-based science are more appropriately expressed as principles governing design of the system? If not, why?
 - d) Are there other objectives that should be considered?

DISCUSSION

Rather than a hierarchy, each of the objectives should be on the same level as they do not all apply in every situation – notably products for companion animal and other non-food animal species have no interaction with primary production or trade.

Removal of the domestic chemical manufacturing objective can be very short sighted. It seems to assume that local manufacture has not significantly contributed to the innovation currently available to the animal health industry. However, while new innovations usually arise from larger companies, Australia has a strong record of local companies leading innovation delivery to the end user.

Perhaps a more visionary perspective could be – how can regulatory legislation be amended to facilitate the ability of companies (including startups) to move into the innovation spaces left by the continued merger of large companies. The small global size of the Australian industry doesn't support significant innovation spend for Australian specific projects and it is often only where companies have retained a local, focused R&D centre with committed funding for the region that innovative products for Australian unmet needs are developed and introduced.

The issue of domestic food security is sufficiently important to be considered. In view of the range of zoonotic diseases of animals, protection of the HEALTH and welfare of animals is important (for example, not all zoonotic diseases cause welfare problems in the host animal).

1.3 What principles should underpin design of the system?

Discussion questions

- 4) Do you support the principles proposed to guide design and reforms to the future agvet chemicals regulatory system? If not, why?
 - a) How could these principles be enshrined to ensure they are met?
 - b) Do you have suggestions for additional principles that should be considered by the panel?

DISCUSSION

Effectiveness assessment of each selected new measure is a principle that should be considered

1.4 Is a risk-based system better than a hazard-based system?

Panel's view

The panel is of the view that it is critically important that Australia's future regulatory system is based on risk, not hazard alone. Such an approach provides for a more scientifically robust and comprehensive regulatory system, and incorporates hazard assessments along with exposure and use, to determine chemicals suitable for use and the safest way of using them. This approach also ensures that users and the community have access to the broadest suite possible of safe chemicals to manage pests and diseases.

Discussion question

5) Do you agree that the regulatory system needs to have a risk-based focus to provide for a more scientifically robust and comprehensive system? If not, why?

DISCUSSION

A rigorous, transparent, objective and scientific risk-based approach to the evaluation of veterinary medicines is supported. Clear risk questions that define the risks under assessment are an important starting point and should always be explicitly stated.

Risks can be fluid, especially as exposure situations change. How will the system adjust to new information that is relevant to the assessment of risk?

It is appreciated that risk management is a separate but complementary discipline and inherent component of the three arms of risk analysis (risk, management and communication). Some clarity on how the outcome of a risk assessment is converted to a regulatory decision would be very valuable.

Chapter 2: who should ultimately be responsible for aspects of the system?

2.1 How should the supply of agvet chemicals be regulated?

Panel's view

The panel has a strong view that there is little justification for considering any changes to the current approach of a single national regulator for the supply of agvet chemicals.

2.2 Who should lead key responsibilities and reforms for the national system?

Discussion question

6) What governance structure might be best for delivering the Australian Government's responsibilities in the national regulatory system?

Do you see merit in a time-limited High-Level Steering Committee to drive implementation action on the regulatory reform agenda?

DISCUSSION

The governance structure that is most desirable consults with stakeholders, seeks guidance from within and beyond when addressing complex issues, appreciates the separate but related importance of science based risk assessment and socially and environmentally responsible risk management, retains scientific vigour, is consistent in decision making while being flexible. Option 2, statutory authority with board, may most closely reflect these features.

Implementation of reforms is essential, and merit is seen in having a high-level steering committee responsible for ensuring effective and efficient implementation – as judged by independent and transparent ongoing intra- and post-implementation assessment.

As evident from recent government enquiries, the chain of command is critical, and a clear governance and organisational structure is critical.

2.3 Should control of use be nationally consistent?

Option 1 Expanded applied law model

Option 2 Commonwealth exercising its full constitutional reach

Option 3 Re-invigorating the existing Intergovernmental Agreement on control of use

Discussion questions

- 7) Which of the three reform options outlined do you support and why?
 - a) Which option is likely to deliver the best chance of consistency in control of use and the greatest likelihood of success and why?
 - b) What risks do you foresee in implementing any of the options proposed?

DISCUSSION

The AVA fully supports national harmonisation of veterinary medicine use, veterinary prescribing rights and national coordination of domestic produce residue monitoring. Option 1 (expanded applied law model) is considered likely to deliver the long-overdue national consistency that has long been sought. As veterinarians operate across State borders, a consistent approach is fully supported. Harmonisation of use should also allow one veterinarian to supply another veterinarian with veterinary medicines needed to support the health and welfare of animals, especially in cases of stock-outs or unavailability of the essential medicines. For harmonisation, no risks, only benefits, are foreseen in a veterinary context.

2.4 Should there be shared responsibilities between industry and government?

Discussion questions

- 8) Do you support the addition of co-and-self regulatory approaches to agvet chemicals management (across all levels of a product lifecycle like the Australian Packaging Covenant) to deliver more effective and efficient outcomes than direct regulation alone?
 - a) Do you support the panel's proposal for a holder accreditation scheme? Would the proposed levels of accreditation provide greater incentives for industry compliance?
 - b) Is there additional value in limiting the scope for a holder based on the nature of the registration?
 - c) Do you agree with the panel's proposal for formal training requirements for users to access (purchase) agricultural chemicals above a certain volume?
 - d) Do you have suggestions for how existing assurance schemes such as GMP could be used to streamline assessment processes?
 - e) Is there value in a statutory duty of care on industry and/or users to strengthen incentives for responsible use of chemical products to minimise risks to human health, animals and the environment?
 - f) Can you think of any alternative or additional measures the government could implement to strengthen the responsibilities of regulated entities and users?

DISCUSSION

There already exists a shared responsibility between government and the veterinary profession. Veterinarians have completed comprehensive training and education in all clinical aspects of veterinary medicine, including the examination of animals, diagnosis of disease, selection and use of veterinary medicines and ongoing monitoring of the response of each treated animal to treatment. Veterinarians have a number ethical and legal responsibilities pertaining to the use of veterinary medicines. The shared responsibility must continue for the benefit of the health and welfare of animals. Government should recognise the role of individual veterinarians in supporting animal health and welfare and in addition to a shared responsibility, there should be consultation, collaboration and cooperation on the development of new veterinary medicines and facilitation of their refined use as new information becomes available.

2.5 Is compliance and enforcement effective?

Panel's view

The panel notes that state and territory regulatory powers to control agricultural chemical and veterinary medicine use differ from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, as does the approach to compliance by the various regulators. The panel is inclined to recommend a national approach to compliance and enforcement of agvet chemicals use that employs a consistent set of compliance and enforcement tools. For example, there could be a more consistent approach to: licensing of chemical users; monitoring and investigative powers; record-keeping requirements; and the full suite of administrative actions, plus civil and criminal penalty provisions with a consistent range of available sanctions.

Discussion questions

- 9) Should detection and investigation measures be augmented to better treat the risks posed by agvet chemicals?
 - a) Do agvet chemicals regulators need more effective and nationally consistent tools and sanctions than they already possess to manage the risks for which they are responsible?
 - b) Do agvet chemicals regulators have appropriate resources, appetite and/or incentive to use the detection and enforcement tools they have? If not, how could this be addressed?
 - c) Are you confident that regulators will detect non-compliance (in particular, that which poses the greatest threats to human and animal health and the environment) and respond appropriately? If not, what should/could be done differently?
 - d) Should agvet chemicals registration-holders be screened in some way to ensure they are reputable? Why, why not?

DISCUSSION

In general, the existing compliance and enforcement measures work well, with the addition of Veterinary Practitioner Boards in each State available to act on complaints as well as regularly reviewing competence of veterinarians and standards of veterinary hospitals. The current system of compliance relies on reports of complaints. A system that was progressive and supportive and that included random audits could improve compliance and reduce the need for enforcement.

Chapter 3: what chemicals are currently regulated?

3.1 Should the system only include chemicals for primary producers, veterinarians and nonurban land managers?

Panel's view

The panel is disposed to removing from the scope of the agvet chemicals regulatory system products with limited relevance to primary production or animal welfare. As examples this would include most consumer goods, pool and spa chemicals, antifouling paints and some veterinary products.

The panel considers that this would give a clearer 'identity' to the agvet chemicals regulatory system: it supports Australian primary production, veterinarians, and non-urban land management.

The panel is also disposed towards the introduction of restrictions of 'veterinary use only', where warranted for animal welfare, along similar lines to that adopted for agricultural chemicals currently under the auspices of Restricted Chemical Products. The panel considers that at the minimum, and to the extent not already addressed through scheduling, injectable veterinary products should require the direct involvement (either in administration or under their instruction) of a veterinarian.

Discussion questions

- **10)** Do you support the proposal to remove consumer products and pool and spa chemicals, antifouling paints and certain over-the-counter companion animal products from the agvet chemicals regulatory system? If not, why?
 - a) Do the benefits of the proposed removal of these products outweigh the risks? If not, why?
 - b) Are the new definitions of a plant protection product and veterinary medicine supported? If not, why?
 - c) Do you agree that certain product uses, such as those administered by injection, warrant the direct involvement of veterinarians, separate to the controls under the poisons scheduling?

DISCUSSION

Re the following examples, apply risk assessment approaches (eg flea collars) and consider limitation of claims.

- many over-the-counter companion animal products, in particular impregnated material (such as flea collars)
- most products based on essential oils or other herbal extracts
- products containing only substances generally recognised as safe (GRAS), set out in regulation

The animal welfare implications of removing the products currently regulated needs to be considered. For example, effective parasite control is important from an animal welfare and often from a public health perspective. Effective parasite control can only be achieved by those acting on the basis of the epidemiology, population dynamics and resistance status of the target parasite.

With clear guidance on use, parasite resistance selection is hastened and the availability of effective antiparasitic veterinary medicines reduced. The emergence and dissemination of flea, tick and helminth resistance to existing veterinary antiparasitic classes is becoming a critical issue as new classes are not being developed at a pace to replace the current classes.

When considering the removal of products from the requirements of registration a thorough risk assessment should be completed. As risks are likely to change with time it is important that a system of monitoring excluded products is introduced. Currently, products excluded from use are not the subject of any list or register, they remain unknown to the regulator. This is not necessarily a good thing. For example, probiotics are excluded from the requirements of registration if they meet a number of self-assessed tests. If the manufacturer is satisfied that the tests are met, then the product can be manufactured, sold and used without any knowledge of the regulator. If a problem emerges it may be completely hidden from view. For example, probiotic products can be exempt from registration. However, there is considerable literature that has found that probiotic bacteria can have a variety of acquired antimicrobial resistance determinants that can be disseminated to treated animals (Ben Braïek and Smaoui 2019; Brodmann et al 2017; Castro-González et al 2019; Lee et al 2019; Ji et al 2020; Selvin et al 2020; Sharma et al 2014; Sharma et al 2016; Wang et al 2020). Thus, antimicrobial resistance could be widely distributed by an exempt product with no oversight. The need for risk assessment and ongoing monitoring is essential.

There is a concern that ineffective herbal anthelmintics are permitted to be sold in some countries such as the USA. Goats are particularly susceptible to helminthoses, and deaths have resulted from use of these products – therefore, risk assessment very important.

3.2 Should agricultural and veterinary chemicals be regulated together?

Discussion questions

- 11) Are there areas where the approach to agricultural chemicals and veterinary medicines should be different?
 - a) Should there be separate requirements specified in the legislation for veterinary medicines and agricultural chemicals? If so, what should these requirements be?

DISCUSSION

The introduction to this submission highlights many of the differences. To summarise, there is often an important distinction in use patterns between products for food producing animals and for other animal species (dogs, cats, horses, birds, fish, zoo, fauna, exotic etc)

Veterinarians who select and prescribe veterinary medicines are highly trained to undertake a challenging professional role in the diagnosis and treatment of disease and dysfunction and maintain animal welfare. As practicing veterinarians, they have obligations to maintain continuing professional development.

Greatest risk of use of a veterinary medicine is generally to the patient and not the owner.

Individualisation of treatment is important for many companion animal products.

This underpins the need for efficacy assessment as safety is dependent on dose selected for use and other aspects of the dosage regimen (for example single or short term use or long term even lifetime use). Unlike in the agchem world, in small animal medicine many veterinary medicines are

administered repeatedly for life, for example, daily doses of insulin in diabetic animals, daily doses of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for animals with osteoarthritis, daily doses of cardioactive drugs for animals with heart disease. There are a multitude of other examples.

Restraint statements (DO NOT USE) in labels are a particular problem in veterinary medicine prescribing and use. There is a substantial view that these should only be included when there is a specific risk, rather than as a default if data (eg on milk WHP) has not been provided (to save cost) by the registrant.

Chapter 4: are there gaps in agvet chemicals regulation or management?

4.1 Can we assess use by region, pest, disease or other instead of state boundaries?

Discussion questions

- 12) What are the merits of considering boundaries (other than state) that might be relevant to the use patterns of agvet chemicals use?
 - a) What are the merits of considering regions of significant environmental interest, such as those adjacent to the Great Barrier Reef, or unique environmental values, for restrictions or bans on some agvet chemicals uses?
 - b) What are the merits of mandating five yearly label reviews (by the holder) to remove where appropriate state references and aligning with the review of safety data sheets?
 - c) Is it possible to establish pest groupings?

DISCUSSION

For most veterinary medicines use is similar nationally. There are some exceptions where particular diseases or intoxications are present in restricted areas. For example, tick paralysis due to envenomation by *Ixodes holocyclus* is restricted to the east coast of Australia. Arthropod borne diseases are restricted by the occurrence of the vector. Diseases like Johne's Disease of sheep and cattle and virulent footrot of sheep may be subject to specific disease management zones.

4.2 Should benefits be considered in assessments?

Discussion questions

- 13) Would a benefits test as proposed be a useful addition to the agvet chemicals regulatory system?
 - a) Are the benefits outlined appropriate?
 - b) Are there additional benefits that should be considered?
 - c) Should the benefits test have the two purposes proposed?

DISCUSSION

A benefits test could reasonably be applied to veterinary medicines. For example, in the control of rabbits the chemical and biological approaches currently available are far from meeting even a low standard of animal welfare. If a new veterinary medicine became available that had demonstrable improvement in animal welfare then it should qualify for a benefits assessment and expedited review. Similarly, if an antibacterial veterinary medicine became available that did not select for antimicrobial resistance of public health importance, it can be the subject of a benefits test.

Related to the benefits tests described in the issues paper are the various types of expedited review that are available under the US FDA Expedited Development and Review Pathways (https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/expedited-programs-serious-conditions-drugs-and-biologics), including Fast Track-designated drugs that have

the potential to address unmet medical needs; breakthrough therapies that apply to drugs for serious or life-threatening diseases for which there is unmet medical need and for which there is preliminary clinical evidence demonstrating that the drug may result in substantial improvement on a clinically significant endpoint; and Priority Review if the FDA determines that the drug could potentially provide a significant advance in medical care. To promote innovation in veterinary medicine development, such expedited pathways would offer some encouragement.

There are many unmet needs in veterinary practice and measures designed to encourage and facilitate the introduction of new products to satisfy these needs are highly important. One very pertinent example relates to the enhancement of chicken welfare where there are no analgesic products registered for use. The market for such products is insufficiently large to offset and justify the cost of development and registration. However, mitigating pain and improving welfare are such important objectives. Any measures that the regulatory system can apply to allow significant gaps (such as this example provides) to be overcome is highly desirable.

4.3 Should the impact of chemical combinations matter?

Discussion questions

- 14) Is the area of chemical combinations highlighted worth exploring?
 - a) How might consideration of the impacts of chemicals (cumulative and synergistic) be feasibly considered in the Australian system, given the limited progress in this area internationally?
 - b) Should Australia wait until international methodologies for assessing impacts of chemical combinations have been developed? Or should Australia have a role in assisting in their development?
 - c) What skills and tools are needed in Australia to allow consideration of the impacts of synergistic impacts of chemicals?

DISCUSSION

This is a complex field. The US and EU approach focuses on areas that the APVMA already manages through controls such as personal exposure limits, application rates, frequency of use patterns, withholding periods as some examples.

The biological value of combination use is an area that lacks substance and structure in a review process and in fact across the animal health space. This is more evident in the ectoparasiticide area as the endoparasitic area seems to have aligned clearly around the use of combinations. However, there is a role for veterinarians with specific expertise in management of both endo and ectoparasitic infestations under different management systems to assist the regulators develop an appropriate review process. In the case of ectoparasiticide management of production animals, best practice use of combination is less clearly defined.

4.4 Can data mining drive better targeting of effort?

Panel's view

The panel acknowledges these issues would need to be addressed in the implementation of any relevant initiative. If governments are to achieve the benefits that data mining offers it will be essential for them to find a way of enabling access while protecting intellectual property and privacy.

Nevertheless, the panel sees considerable potential in more effective data mining arrangements in the regulatory scheme of the future.

Discussion questions

- 15) What role could data mining and intelligence use play in the regulatory system?
 - a) Should governments improve their data holdings and share this data among the jurisdictions to improve the management of agvet chemicals?
 - b) Should agvet chemical users be required to mandatorily report chemical use data to the regulator? On what basis, If not, why?
 - c) How could data mining and analytics drive better targeting of regulatory effort?
 - d) What standards should operate to ensure data integrity, confidentiality and use?

DISCUSSION

Reporting of the use of veterinary medicines has many benefits, however, registrants can only report sales data and quantities of active constituent used in manufacture of veterinary meidcines, not how the product was ultimately used. A system of clinical record review and audit to determine actual use that was anonymised and non-threatening could provide valuable ongoing real time information. This approach is considered in greater detail in the introduction where the growing recognition of real world data and real world evidence is discussed.

Australia has some global responsibilities for reporting, for example antimicrobial use and resistance to OIE.

4.5 Should there be greater monitoring of chemicals in produce and the environment?

Discussion questions

- 16) Do you support the need for a national domestic produce monitoring system and should it be modelled on the National Residue Survey?
 - a) Should data on residues in domestic produce be publicly available?
 - b) What should core design principles of such a system encompass?

DISCUSSION

As suggested earlier in this submission, a residue monitoring programme that provided information that could guide extra label use (ELU) would be invaluable. In food production practice there is frequently a need to vary label dose information. For pathogens subject to changes in susceptibility due to resistance selection, the label dose is usually inadequate (for example, see the important publication of Hardefeldt et al 2018b). Appropriate treatment then relies on modifying the dosage regimen. As this invariably has residue implications (which the prescribing veterinarian review and manages by determining and recommending an appropriate withholding period (WHP)) it would be valuable to know if the amended WHP allows the tissue residues to deplete below the maximum residue limit (MRL).

Discussion questions

- 17) How could consistency in water and environmental monitoring across jurisdictions be achieved?
 - a) Would monitoring systems (for both water and the environment) based on risk priorities be effective?
 - b) Are there specific environments that should be a priority for monitoring?

Should monitoring results be published and how often?

DISCUSSION

As part of an overall One Heath approach (summarised in the introduction) it is valuable and beneficial to undertake environmental monitoring and surveillance, which should include the presence and type of antimicrobial resistance determinants.

There is support for data to be published, similar to NRS reports. However, there may be a need for exemptions such as for data from investigations being undertaken to establish new methodologies.

Chapter 5: how can communication and engagement be improved?

5.1 Is there a need for more community information on regulatory actions?

Discussion questions

- 18) What information would consumers like to see more of from the national and state agvet chemicals regulators?
 - a) How would consumers prefer to receive information?
 - b) What should be the role of regulators in communicating decisions to the wider community?

DISCUSSION

Should the APVMA engage in community education or could another government group do that – it is important to try to manage the false and misleading information spread by groups with ulterior motives. The AVA could play a critical role here as having the national regulator play a more forward thinking role in educating the community could be impactful. The AVA have a community perspective and communication outreach that could greatly facilitate this strategy. The strategy could be based on the APVMA/AVA openly supporting the continued access to innovation for the benefit of the community with a program of consumer appropriate education topics. This could represent another element in a collaborative and cooperative forum of regulator and veterinary profession. Interestingly and perhaps surprisingly, awareness of the APVMA within the veterinary profession (especially those in practice) is (anecdotally – as no formal survey has been undertaken) very low.

5.2 Do stakeholders require a formal consultation mechanism with the regulators?

Panel's view

The panel is disposed towards a consultative mechanism, like the UK model, with active functions that give it momentum and a greater likelihood of being sustained over time.

Discussion questions

- **19)** Do you support the establishment of a formal consultative forum in Australia, similar to the UK model? If not, why?
 - a) Do you have suggestions on the possible membership and scope for a formal consultative forum in Australia?
 - b) If this model is adopted would there be benefits in forum meetings being open to the public?

DISCUSSION

Consultation with the community is essential. As veterinary medicines address a large expanse of medical need there is also a need for a consultative forum with the veterinary profession. This veterinary medical consultative process should be an ongoing process that reviews acquired

experience with current products (an expanded pharmacovigilance programme that looks at safety, efficacy and new product applications) as well as provides professional input on unmet needs, innovations and other subjects of mutual interest.

There are concerns about the loss of key personnel with the relevant expertise and experience. Addressing this deficiency requires prioritisation.

Chapter 6: how can we simplify the regulatory system?

6.1 Does a product that is the same as another need its own assessment?

Option 1: Repack applications become a declaration/notification process

Option 2: Link the registration status of repacked products to the pioneer product

Option 3: Continue to assess repack applications as per the current approach

Discussion questions

- 20) Which of the three repack application options presented do you prefer and why?
 - a) Are there likely to be any increased risks with a product if option 1 is adopted?
 - b) In option 2, is it reasonable to cancel the registration of all repacks following cancellation of the pioneer product (except in circumstances where the registration holder is in possession of appropriate data and product information)?
 - c) Are there alternative options for dealing with repack applications?

DISCUSSION

Repacks are a special case and can reasonably be expected to be the same as the pioneer product

AVA supports option 1, this allows for the APVMA to minimise the regulatory burden, further it allows for ongoing access to products if the pioneer product ceases to be available. As the formulation owner needs to approve the application this ensures products are not copied without approval from the formulation owner.

Option 2 – not supported as there is a risk that the original formulation owner cannot be contacted and all versions of the product are unregistered despite ongoing demand.

6.2 Who should be responsible for ensuring products work?

Option 1: Removing efficacy from the scope of agvet chemicals regulation

Option 2: Removing the requirement for efficacy data assessment

Option 3: Maintaining the criterion and amending requirements and streamlining assessments

Discussion questions

- 21) Which of the three options presented for retaining (for specific products), reducing or removing efficacy from the current agvet chemicals regulatory system do you prefer and why?
 - a) Do you support applying option 1 to all crop protection products and non-scheduled veterinary medicines? If not, why?
 - b) Do you support applying option 2 to scheduled veterinary medicines? If not, why?
 - c) Are there unmanageable risks or costs if the efficacy criterion was removed or reduced from the regulatory system? If so, could you provide details?

DISCUSSION

This subject is explored in some detail in the introduction to this submission. The important distinction between efficacy and effectiveness is highlighted as are the advantages of collection and analysis of real world data and converting it to real world evidence.

The principles of risk assessment should apply here. In many cases, for example veterinary medicines used chronically or for a lifetime (as is increasingly the case in non-production animal practice) there will be many adverse consequences if the product is found to be ineffective and efficacy studies should be undertaken to demonstrate the product is effective before registration.

Similarly, for vaccines and other preventative products such as those used for various CNS, cardiovascular, dermatological, immunological and other disorders. Imagine a Hendra virus vaccine that was ineffective? Or if vaccination of dairy cattle against leptospirosis was not effective and the dairy farmer and his workers were exposed and developed leptospirosis.

There is a continuum of efficacy needs and the risks need to be determined and efficacy requirements elucidated.

VICH (International Cooperation on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Veterinary Medicinal Products) have international guidelines for efficacy assessment (https://www.vichsec.org/en/).

For companion animals the risks of inefficacy can be very high. There are similarities in considering human paediatric medicines and those for companion animals.

The AVA strongly supports Option 3, many of our members particularly those who work in the Veterinary Pharmaceuticals Industry have a range of concerns in relation to Options 1 and 2. Approving veterinary chemicals without review of the efficacy represents poor science and poses risks to animal welfare which is a core tenet of the AVA. There is no effective system through existing consumer laws to protect against ineffective veterinary products. Regulatory authorities in both Europe and the USA have extensive Industry guidance documents in relation to minimum efficacy requirements to ensure product efficacy. Some key examples are the requirement of >95% efficacy for tick products as there is a significant likelihood of death from ticks (for example the paralysis tick, Ixodes holocyclus) if ineffective products are approved. Treatment of broilers with anticoccidial agents that were not effective could readily lead to the death of thousands of birds. The World Association for the Advancement of Veterinary Parasitology (https://www.waavp.org/) has produced guidelines for the efficacy of parasiticides for large and small animals which need to be followed for registration in Australia, NZ, EU and the USA. In addition, the VICH (International Cooperation on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Veterinary Medicinal Products) (<u>https://www.vichsec.org/en/</u>) has produced a series of guidelines for pharmaceuticals and biologicals for Good Clinical Practice (GCP), Anthelmintics, and Bioequivalence, all to support claims for product efficacy and safety. GCP guidelines were produced to ensure that pharmaceutical companies could not falsify data supporting product registration as the importance of not supplying ineffective products is recognised internationally. This presents a risk to animal welfare as if sick animals are treated with ineffective medicines it may be assumed that the disease is too advanced for the medication to be effective and animals will die until it is recognised that the medicine is not effective. If Australia were to support veterinary chemical registration without efficacy evaluation this represents a massive step backwards. Imagine if Echinococcus granulosis infection in dogs was

treated with an ineffective product, the public health implications would be huge. Suboptimal treatment of cutaneous myiasis (flystrike), *Fasciola hepatia* infection, or haemonchosis in sheep would have devastating health and welfare impacts and significantly erode the Australian reputation for animal health and welfare, undermining international trade opportunities.

The AVA supports the concept of streamlining the efficacy review and supports the concept of approval by independent, qualified, external assessment.

The AVA supports a reduced regulatory system for 'low risk' nutritional/oral products provided there is a suitable low risk framework such as the TGA 'listed' medicines system which could be set up as per Option 2. This has long been discussed with the APVMA but never established. For such chemicals the efficacy review would not be required provided the veterinary chemical included only those chemicals present on a GRAS approved list. This is similar to the END product system currently in place however this has many limitations and should be reviewed to allow for 'listed' medicines which are approved by the APVMA, manufactured to GMP standard and which meet minimum requirements. For low risk products there is always the possibility of unintended (and unforeseen) consequences and a system of monitoring the safety and effectiveness of these products should be in place that also allows changes to the regulatory status (including label changes) if adverse impacts are experienced.

There is scope for a reduced efficacy and safety assessment for products for minor use/minor species as there are very few registered products available due to the substantial costs involved in trials. Scientific argument in place of studies could be considered.

However, there are concerns among vets treating minor species (goats and camelids), particularly in respect to efficacy assessment for over-the counter products. A further consideration is that dose rates applicable to other trade species may not apply (eg goats generally require a higher dose rate of many over-the-counter anthelmintics).

Other options maybe suitable for agriculture chemicals.

6.3 Should there be greater use of standards?

Discussion questions

- 22) Would the ability to make greater use of standards be beneficial for applicants? If not, why?
 - a) Should the use of standards be limited to products of low regulatory concern? Why/why not?
 - b) Are there any unforeseen risks with adopting a standards approach like New Zealand that wouldn't require regulation changes each time a standard is created?
 - c) Should the development of standards be driven by industry or the regulator?
 - d) Are there any other types of standards, or approaches to self-assessment the panel should consider?

DISCUSSION

It would be beneficial for there to be a greater use of standards as this would reduce the registration timeline and encourage an increased number of products meeting a suitable standard. Use of standards should be limited to products of low regulatory concern as meeting the standard would likely allow for registration without detailed assessment of efficacy and safety which creates

unacceptable risks as outline in the answer to 6.2 above. The current New Zealand system works well and likely mutual co-operation between regulators would assist in reducing any unforeseen risks. The development of standards could be driven by either industry or the regulator to allow for more rapid development of standards. The development of a low risk registration system such as TGA listing is recommended as this would simplify the registration for many low risk chemicals. For such chemicals the efficacy review would not be required provided the veterinary chemical included only those chemicals present on a GRAS approved list. This is similar to the END product system currently in place however this has many limitations and should be reviewed to allow for 'listed' medicines which are approved by the APVMA, manufactured to GMP standard and which meet minimum requirements.

As proposed at 6.2 there could be standards or reduced efficacy and safety requirements for products for minor use/minor species, provided there was existing data available for the product in similar major species. In addition, the APVMA should allow for a reduced regulatory burden for medical devices, such as exists within the TGA.

6.4 Does Australia need to assess products that comparable regulators already agree are acceptable?

Panel's view

The Australian regulatory system needs to take full advantage of the work of comparable regulators, so that Australian effort is only focused on the issues that are unique to Australia.

Discussion questions

- 23) Should the regulator utilise prior assessment decisions from comparable regulators to fast track registration where appropriate? If not, why?
 - a) Do you support a registration by reference approach as outlined? If not, why?
 - b) Is basing the approach on decisions from one or more comparable international regulatory systems sufficient?
 - c) Should the approach make it one registration for product, active constituent and label?
 - d) Should the approach be used for variations and reconsiderations?
 - e) Are the criteria for what constitutes a decision of a comparable regulatory system a policy decision appropriate for the minister, departmental secretary or the national regulator?
 - f) What should be the requirements when considering regulatory comparability?
 - g) Are there uniquely Australian issues that need to be assessed that have no international equivalence?
 - h) How might the assessment of any unique Australian matters be easily managed?

DISCUSSION

Need to consider unique OHS and environmental impacts in addition to any target animal differences (eg for fish products) and any animal welfare implications that may be applicable.

The regulator should utilise prior assessment decisions from comparable regulators. Comparable regulators are well resourced with expertise in veterinary medicines regulation and it is a waste of resources and time to replicate regulatory assessment. There are certain circumstances, such as

products to treat internal or external parasites where there are local and regional issues associated with chemical resistance and lack of efficacy, local efficacy trials and assessment will still be required. However, most animal diseases occur globally and do not require specific local efficacy studies or assessment. Similarly, safety studies and safety assessments should not necessarily need to be repeated within Australia.

6.5 Does the existing approach for assessing permits (minor-use and emergency use) meet the needs of users?

Discussion questions

- 24) Is enough being done to address minor use permit applications, if not what more could be done?
 - a) Are there any improvements or changes to the permit system that would be beneficial?
 - b) Should permits be expanded beyond the activities they currently cover? If so, what activities would you suggest?

DISCUSSION

Currently it is expensive and time consuming to obtain a permit, there is little difference between a full registration and a permit. At present there are a relatively small number of registered active ingredients, particularly for minor uses and minor species. Veterinarians rely heavily on compounded medicines which are exempt from registration. If a permit system could be set up for veterinary medicines which are only available on prescription and the veterinarian is willing to take the responsibility for efficacy and safety, as they currently do for compounded medicines, a permit system with reduced regulatory requirements for efficacy, safety and even stability could be created which would ensure supply of quality manufactured products for minor use/minor species and provide an option for products manufactured by a licensed pharmaceutical manufacturing facility. There should be a pragmatic approach (in the context of risk assessment) to residue study requirements which have, historically, lead to lengthy delays in permit finalisation or withdrawal of applications for important medicines.

6.6 Should chemical reviews be timelier and more informative?

Discussion questions

- 25) Are there changes that need to be made to the chemical review process to accelerate timeframes for completion? If so, what would these changes be?
 - a) Should reviews have flexibility to consider specific issues that warrant review rather than a comprehensive reassessment of all aspects of the original approval?
 - b) Should chemical reviews be risk-based rather than driven by rolling specified timeframes?

DISCUSSION

Risk based reviews have merit.

However, a system that allowed ongoing specific reviews is needed, especially for antimicrobial products and antiparasitic products where resistance in the target organism or parasite is changing.

6.7 Should greater use of technology be used—smart labelling?

Discussion questions

- 26) Should smart-labels be used, what smart content should they contain and should they be machine readable?
 - a) Does control of use legislation limit this approach in any way?
 - b) Is mandating labels for containers above a certain volume to be machine readable supported?
 - c) Should Australia adopt a comprehensive use database and/or provide access to an exact copy of the label?
 - Should separate label approvals be removed and instead have label content specified as a condition of registration? Are current labelling requirements excessively prescriptive? Could they be made more outcomes oriented?

DISCUSSION

For veterinary prescription medicines there are advantages with flexible labelling that allows the prescriber to individualise the dose regiment for individual patients. This is an important area outside food animal practice where labelling flexibility is restrained by MRL and WHP considerations.

Inevitably as veterinary medicine use leads to greater knowledge and experience of safety and effectiveness there are refinements in use that have significant benefits in selected patients. Continuous improvement is guided by accumulated real world evidence (see introduction). Smart labelling is not the preferred way to address the evolution of product use. This should not be a regulatory matter but a matter for veterinary professional judgement based on contemporary published evidence.

Chapter 7: how can Australia build national and international capacity?

7.1 Are there sufficient international networks of expertise?

Discussion questions

- 27) How could the regulator and the Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment best engage and strengthen international networks?
 - a) How can parties outside of government become involved in existing international networks?
 - b) How can the regulator best expand and use its existing network of international assessors?

DISCUSSION

Australia has been closely involved in the operations of VICH since its inception in 1996.

VICH is a trilateral (EU-Japan-USA) programme aimed at harmonising technical requirements for veterinary product registration. Its full title is the International Cooperation on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Veterinary Medicinal Products. VICH was officially launched in April 1996. It has 5 main objectives.

- Establish and implement harmonized technical requirements for the registration of veterinary medicinal products in the VICH regions, which meet high quality, safety and efficacy standards and minimize the use of test animals and costs of product development.
- 2. Provide a basis for wider international harmonization of registration requirements.
- 3. Monitor and maintain existing VICH guidelines, taking particular note of the ICH work program and, where necessary, update these VICH guidelines.
- 4. Ensure efficient processes for maintaining and monitoring consistent interpretation of data requirements following the implementation of VICH guidelines.
- 5. By means of a constructive dialogue between regulatory authorities and industry provide technical guidance enabling response to significant emerging global issues and science that impact on regulatory requirements within the VICH regions.

While establishing direct relationships with the regulators of the US (CVM), Canada, Europe (CVMP) and NZ (ACVM) is important, continuing the close contact with VICH remains important and beneficial.

7.2 Is an operational regulatory working group needed?

Panel's view

The panel sees benefit in an operational group of regulators across jurisdictions focused on addressing and working through issues that need solving. This would assist in building capacity among regulators as they share information, intelligence and skills to progress their regulatory responsibilities. The panel is interested in feedback on whether there would be merit in reinvigorating the Registration Liaison Committee to focus on its original intent.

Discussion questions

- 28) Do you support the reinvigoration of the Registration Liaison Committee to focus on its original intent? If not, why?
 - a) Do you support the proposed new formal consultative forum (chapter 5) in Australia including work on regulatory operations and technical working committees?

DISCUSSION

The Registration Liaison Committee (RLC) allowed for regular communication between the APVMA and stakeholders and reinvigoration of the RLC is supported.

If a co-regulatory model is supported for the role of veterinarians, those with substantial experience and expertise in livestock practice, including the practical challenges of managing risk of both prescription and non-prescription veterinary medicines, should be represented. Indeed, dialogue between the registering authority (APVMA) and representatives of prescribers is likely to deliver better outcomes than if regulators have a dominant role. It would also seem to be critically important that high level input from a pharmacological (particularly residue and WHP) perspective is essential.

7.3 Should the private sector be able to perform assessment work?

Discussion questions

29) Do you support a third-party accredited assessor scheme? If not, why?

- a) Do you support the scheme being based on the model in the lapsed Streamlining Regulations Bill 2019?
- b) Should applicants be able to choose their accredited assessor, or should there be a panel of assessors allocated by the regulator?
- c) Should persons overseas be able to work as accredited assessors?

DISCUSSION

Yes in principle a third-party accredited accessor scheme is supported. The regulators vet med group can only ever be very small and cannot be expected to have experience and expertise in all product categories.

There is also limited opportunity for continuing professional development of regulatory staff – an important issue that needs attention (see also 7.4 below).

The current NZ MPI uses third-party assessors and this system works very well. There are many experts in Australia who do not work at the APVMA and whose skill and expertise could be utilised in this area. Applicants should be able to choose their own assessor and persons overseas should be able to work as accredited assessors. Provided the APVMA established the requirements for approval of external assessors it should not matter who chooses the individual assessor or where they are based. For certain products, such as products to treat internal or external parasites with regional differences in resistance likely local assessment would be preferable, however overseas experts could familiarise themselves with the local data in relation to these parasites and conduct an effective assessment. This would ease the regulatory burden and be of benefit both to the APVMA and registrants.

7.4 What capabilities may be needed to adapt to future technology?

Discussion questions

- **30)** What additional capabilities may be needed by agvet chemical regulators to assess new technology?
 - a) Which stakeholders should agvet chemicals regulators consult with to stay abreast of current and emerging technologies?
 - b) What horizon scanning activities should be undertaken by agvet chemicals regulators?

DISCUSSION

Two avenues should be considered:

- 1. A standing veterinary medicines consultation between the veterinary profession and the regulator will enable the veterinary medicines regulator to remain in close contact with current developments and future needs of the veterinary profession. Amongst the 10,000 practicing veterinarians there is a huge repository of knowledge and experience that is available for mining in the consultation process.
- 2. The necessarily small contingent of veterinary medicine regulatory professionals need to have their training needs assessed and a training programme developed. While local university training could be developed to meet induction requirements, secondment to or time spent participating in training programmes undertaken by larger regulatory agencies (for example CVMP or CVM) is likely to be beneficial.

The process of professional development is just as important for regulatory veterinarians and nonveterinarians as it is for practicing veterinarians. The application of the new knowledge gained needs to be overviewed within the organisational structure to ensure that local regulatory approaches are retained and overseas approaches, while considered, are not automatically adopted.

Chapter 8: how will a new regulatory system be sustainably funded?

8.1 Are all system users paying their fair share of costs?

8.2 Are fairer cost recovery arrangements needed?

Discussion questions

- 31) Which proposed cost recovery options presented do you support and why?
 - a) Which combinations of the proposed options work best together and why?
 - b) Are there other options that the panel should consider?

DISCUSSION

Cost recovery – the current system encourages the provision of products with low sales volumes and helps fill the therapeutic gaps that would not be filled if full fee-for service was introduced. With full fee-for service we are likely to see big pharma with blockbuster products continue to prosper and the needs of producers for specific low use products unmet. However the current ability for copy products to be registered at a fraction of the cost of those who provide the research is also highly inequitable and greatly reduces the incentive to develop new products except in those jurisdictions where registration within the life of a patent is possible. However not all new product developments will be patentable.

8.3 Are there 'public goods' government should fund?

Discussion questions

- 32) Which regulatory activities outlined do you think represent a public good and why?
 - a) Are there other activities not mentioned that could represent a public good? If so, what are they?

DISCUSSION

Some compliance would definitely be a public good and if government funded would help remove the complaint that the regulator is funded by the regulated and therefore beholden to it. Environmental monitoring is an area that could be considered a public good in some instances.

It is suggested that public good is measurable by market access/trade and by animal welfare expectations of the community.

Public good also extends to include OH&S aspects for users of veterinary medicines and the availability of safe food free from pathogens and unacceptable chemical residues

Chapter 9: Appendix A: independent review: agvet chemicals national regulatory framework

Other issues for consideration

NEED FOR FLEXIBLE LABELS

There is a special case for veterinary medicines where the target of drug action changes with product use and the dosage regimen therefore needs periodic adjustment: the case of antimicrobial resistance and antiparasitic resistance (blowflies, ticks, lice, coccidia, nematodes, trematodes).

WITHHOLDING PERIOD CHANGES AND NEED FOR COLLABORATIVE APPROACH

Impact of changing dose rates on withholding period determination. A system is needed that allows data collection on residue concentrations in food producing animals treated off-label. Such data could lead to evidence-based recommendations on future uses.

VETERINARY MEDICINES FOR SMALL ANIMALS, HORSES, FAUNA, ZOO ANIMALS AND EXOTIC SPECIES

There is a significant difference between agricultural chemicals and veterinary medicines. The health and welfare and quality of life of animals is an important consideration every time a veterinary medicine is used. Veterinarians deal with sentient animals. Agricultural products are applied to crops and plants and other non-animal non-sentient species. Regulation of veterinary medicines is much more closely aligned to the regulation of human medicines. There are very few major regulatory agencies that have responsibility for regulating both ag and veterinary products. IN the US, the FDA reviews human and animal products. In Europe, the EMA reviews human and animal products. Similarly, in Canada and many other countries. The US EPA regulates external non-systemic pesticides used in animals and all pesticides used in plants – however, this co-registration is a very small part of the veterinary medicine world. Before the APVMA and the NRA, the regulatory system in Australia regulated veterinary medicines separately (via the Technical Committee in Veterinary Drugs or TCVD). The question: why mix ag and vet chemicals?

ESSENTIAL NEED FOR VETERINARY MEDICINES THAT ARE UNLIKELY EVER TO BE REGISTERED

Registration will only ever apply to a small number of the veterinary medicines used by veterinarians. The regulatory system needs to recognise this and the role of veterinarians in using medicines that are essential but not registered.

DIAGNOSTIC TESTS

Appropriate and effective selection and use of veterinary medicines relies on an accurate diagnosis. Veterinarians utilize the history of the circumstances, physical examination and a variety of tests to develop a provisional or definitive diagnosis. A variety of diagnostic tests are marketed in Australia and sold to veterinarians. Not all tests are subjected to validation, for example to determine sensitivity and specificity. Some tests have been found to be unreliable and inaccurate. If animal health and welfare is dependent on appropriate treatment and if treatment in turn is dependent on the diagnosis which itself is dependent on a test that claims to provide diagnostic information, then the accuracy of the test and validation of the testing method is essential. This is an area that does not seem to be regulated other than by consumer law. However, protections of consumer law arise only if diagnostic tests are shown to be inaccurate which can only happen after inaccuracy is discovered, which may only occur if a large number of animals experience treatment failure.